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 Polar Capital Holdings plca

At a Glance

Polar Capital Holdings plc is a specialist,  
investment led, active fund management company 
with a collegiate and meritocratic culture where  
the capacity of investment strategies is managed  
to enhance and protect performance.

Our Office Locations

Primacy of investment 
performance

A flexible, entrepreneurial 
and transparent culture

Institutional robustness 
across operations, 
compliance, risk and 
relationship management

An environment in which 
talent can flourish and be 
well rewarded

Diversified yet 
complementary set of funds 
with a focus on fundamental 
research driven strategies

High equity ownership 
amongst staff

Who we are

Our Philosophy

Since its foundation in 2001, the Polar Capital Group has grown to 
support 12 investment teams managing 22 funds and 3 managed 
accounts across a range of long-only and alternative products, with 
combined AUM at 31 March 2018 of £12.0bn.

Polar Capital Holdings plc ordinary shares are traded on the Alternative 
Investment Market under the ticker ‘POLR.LN’.

London  ∙  Tokyo  ∙  St. Helier  ∙  Darien (USA)  ∙  Edinburgh
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Assets Under Management (AUM) 
At 31 March 2018

£12.0bn
2017: £9.3bn
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Financial

We added to our fund range in October 2017 with the Automation  
and Artificial Intelligence Fund which raised over £156m on its launch 
and has assets of over £242m at the end of May 2018

Assets Under Management (AUM)

Profit before Share-Based Payments  
on Preference Shares†

Basic EPS

Dividends

Core Operating Profit†

Pre-tax Profit

2018

2018

2018

2018

2018

2017

2017

2017

2017

2017

£12.0bn

£46.4m

36.4p

28.0p

£27.8m

£9.3bn

£23.6m

17.8p

25.0p

2018

2017

£41.3m

£20.4m

Adjusted Diluted EPS†

2018

2017

36.6p

20.4p

Shareholders’ Funds

2018

2017

£87.7m

£70.7m

£20.9m

† The non-GAAP alternative performance measures shown here are described on page 19.

Corporate

Highlights

This report does not constitute an offer or recommendation to invest in any of the funds referenced within. 
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Assets Under Management

31 March 2018
£bn %

 Total long-only 10.83 90.3%
 Total alternative 1.17 9.7%

12.00

31 March 2017
£bn %

 Total long-only 8.44 91.1%
 Total alternative 0.83 8.9%

9.27

AUM split by Type

2018 2017

90.3% 91.1%

9.7% 8.9%

AUM split by Strategy
(In Chronological order)

31 March 2018

£bn %

 Technology 3.30 27.5%

 Japan 1.07 8.9%

 European Long/Short 0.18 1.5%

 Healthcare 1.63 13.6%

 Financials 1.81 15.1%

 Emerging Markets Income 0.16 1.3%

 Convertibles 0.45 3.8%

 North America 2.02 16.8%

 Global Alpha – –

 UK Absolute 0.54 4.5%

 European Income 0.19 1.6%

 UK Value 0.65 5.4%

Total Assets 12.00

31 March 2017

£bn %

 Technology 2.19 23.6%

 Japan 0.97 10.4%

 European Long/Short 0.27 3.0%

 Healthcare 1.43 15.4%

 Financials 1.32 14.2%

 Emerging Markets Income 0.39 4.2%

 Convertibles 0.43 4.7%

 North America 1.74 18.9%

 Global Alpha 0.11 1.1%

 UK Absolute 0.13 1.4%

 European Income 0.12 1.3%

 UK Value 0.17 1.8%

Total Assets 9.27

1.5%
3.0%

1.6% 1.1% 1.8%
1.4% 1.3%

23.6% 23.6%

13.6% 15.4%
15.1% 14.2%

4.5%
5.4%

18.9%

16.8%

4.7%

3.8% 4.2%

2018 2017

8.9%

10.4%

27.5% 23.6%

1.3%

Strategic Report
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Business model
The Group operates as a scalable business platform for specialist, active fund management teams and is structured into three 
main business areas: Fund Management, Operations and Distribution.

The Group currently supports 12 investment teams that manage a range of long-only and alternative products, including 
open-ended UCITS funds, closed-ended investment trust companies, alternative funds and segregated accounts.

The Group maintains a robust and scalable operational infrastructure and system of risk control. Third party service providers 
are used to provide portfolio accounting, custody and back office services to ensure that resources are concentrated on fund 
management. The operations team provides the Group with support in the areas of compliance, risk monitoring, IT, product 
management, finance and the oversight of the third party service providers.

The Group’s sales and marketing teams distribute its products in the UK and internationally to wholesale professional 
investors only.

increase distribution capability in Continental 
Europe

access sales opportunities in Asia and Australia

increase US client assets over time

preserve a strong balance sheet
sustain high levels of corporate governance 
and transparency

Strategy and Business Model

The Group’s aim is to become a leading specialist investment led, active fund manager through a strategy 
of delivering to professional and institutional investors a range of fundamentally driven investment products 
that deliver differentiated risk adjusted returns over the long-term. 

Our focus is investment performance over and above the gathering of assets. We believe there is an alignment of 
interest between the investment managers we recruit, their focus on delivering superior returns and the interests of 
professional and institutional clients who are seeking differentiated investment products.

be a leading global investment management 
boutique

focus on building the institutional channel

selectively extend existing teams to provide 
additional capacity

deliver first quartile fund performance  
over the investment cycle

maintain a robust operational infrastructure

add complementary Global Emerging  
Markets equities capability to appeal to   
institutional investors

add complementary Global/International 
equities capability to appeal to  
institutional investors

Objectives

Strategy for further growth

be a strong and dependable partner to our 
clients offering them a range of attractive and 
differentiated investment products

DistributionInvestment strategies
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Chairman's Statement

Tom Bartlam
Chairman

" This financial year, a record in terms of profit and net flows, 
was particularly gratifying with our assests under mangagement 
increasing by 29.0% from £9.3bn to £12.0bn."

The external influences on markets in the past year have 
been dominated by concerns about the consequences of 
Donald Trump’s presidency in the USA and Vladimir Putin’s 
ongoing leadership in Russia together with continuing 
unrest in the Middle East. Closer to home, we remain 
unclear on what the potential impact of Brexit might be. 
Despite this, global economies have continued to grow and 
equity markets have been supportive in both developed and 
developing markets, providing active managers with a broad 
set of investment opportunities. 

This financial year, a record in terms of profit and net 
flows, was particularly gratifying with our assets under 
management (AUM) increasing by 29.0% from £9.3bn to 
£12.0bn. This increase was a combination of market uplift, 
strong fund outperformance and net fund inflows of £1.9bn. 
Net quarterly inflows began improving in the second half 
of the previous financial year and this positive momentum 
continued to improve throughout the year. 

The results are pleasing given the continuing competition 
from the rise of passive fund investing by asset allocators as 
well as the impact on risk-appetite from the uncertainty that 
Brexit and other geopolitical threats create.

Of our eleven strategies which remained open during 
the year, eight grew their AUM over the year. This is an 
improvement over the prior financial year when four of our 
strategies experienced AUM declines.

The barometer of the health of our Company is investor 
demand for our fund strategies which is manifested by 
positive net flows to our funds. Net inflows are a result of 
compelling and differentiated investment outcomes as well 
as effective sales and client servicing functions. 85.0% of our 
total AUM outperformed respective benchmarks during the 
year, averaging double-digit absolute returns for clients in the 
process and 99.0% of our UCITS funds are ranked in the top 
quartile against their Lipper peer universe since inception. 

During the year, a number of awards were bestowed on our 
fund managers with the Technology and UK Absolute Equity 
teams picking up awards in the UK and our Global Insurance 
team receiving an award in the Far East. 

Results
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders doubled from 
£16.0m to £32.8m with diluted earnings per share increasing 
104.1% from 17.0p to 34.7p.  Adjusted diluted earnings per 
ordinary share, after adjusting for share-based payments on 
preference shares and deferred remuneration costs, rose by 
79.4% from 20.4p to 36.6p.

Our Balance Sheet remains strong with net assets of £87.7m 
and net cash of £87.9m. 

Dividend
The Company has come out of a two-year period during 
which it has paid an uncovered dividend.

This year, the Company’s results have shown that the past 
confidence placed in its improving performance was well 
placed as if the dividend had been maintained at the level of 
the past two years it would have been covered 1.46 times by 
this year’s earnings. 

Going forward we would expect in normal circumstances 
to pay an annual dividend within a range of 55% and 
85% of adjusted total earnings, dependent on the scale of 
performance fees in the relevant year.

Over the medium term we would also expect dividends to 
increase broadly in line with the increase in core earnings.

Retained surplus cash, particularly in years of higher 
performance fees, would be expected to finance share 
buy backs in addition to financing the future growth of  
the business.

The second interim dividend to be paid will be 22.0p (2017: 
19.5p making a total annual dividend of 28.0p (2017: 25p). 

Leadership change
We experienced a seamless transition in leadership following 
Gavin Rochussen replacing Tim Woolley as Chief Executive in 
July last year.  Tim left Polar Capital with a group of high quality 
fund managers and strong momentum in terms of AUM and 
profit growth. 
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From this base Gavin was well placed to grow the business. 
While being clear that there would be no fundamental change 
to the ethos and philosophy behind Polar Capital’s active style 
of fund management, Gavin has set out a clear growth and 
diversification strategy for the business which he has begun to 
implement. 

Board changes

Tim Woolley, a co-founder of the Company , having retired 
as CEO last year, remained on the Board as a Non- Executive 
Director. He has now indicated he wishes to stand down 
from the Board at the AGM. We thank him for the enormous 
contribution he has made to the success of Polar Capital since 
its foundation in 2001 and wish him well for his life beyond 
Polar Capital.

Hugh Aldous, who has been a member of the Board and 
Chairman of the Audit Committee since 2007, is also 
standing down from the Board. We thank him for the wise 
and professional advice and great commitment he has given 
to Polar Capital over the last 11 years.

Following the appointment of a new CEO last year we are 
now in the process of refreshing the non-executive element 
of the Board. An announcement of the appointment of 
new Non- Executive Directors to the Board, including a new 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, is expected to be made in 
the near future.

Annual General Meeting
Once again our AGM will be held at our offices at 16 Palace 
Street, London, SW1E 5JD. The meeting will be on 25 July 
2018 commencing at 2:30pm. Although we do not give a 
trading update at the meeting, I encourage shareholders to 
attend so that they can meet the Directors after the meeting.

Details of the AGM are contained in the separate notice  
of meeting.

Outlook
The investment performance delivered to our clients and 
record returns produced for our shareholders in the financial 
year were made possible by our committed and loyal 
partners and employees. I would like to thank all those at 
Polar Capital who contributed to a highly satisfactory year.

As well as market, stock and sector-specific issues that our 
managers encounter on a daily basis, we face a number of 
macro and geopolitical challenges. The industry faces the 
dual headwinds of rising regulatory cost and fee pressure as 
low-cost passive investing has gained popularity. We believe 
it is critically important that we remain faithful to our active 
management philosophy and our core business model in 
order to navigate future challenges. 

Our new financial year has started strongly which enables us, 
significant market corrections apart, to view the year ahead 
with confidence.

Tom Bartlam

Chairman

22 June 2018

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

£32.8m
2017: £16m

Total annual dividend

28.0p
2017: 25p
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Chief Executive's Report

Gavin Rochussen
Chief Executive 

" This year, on average, our long-only UCITS funds out-performed 
their passive benchmarks, net of all fees by 2.2%. From inception 
this figure increases to 3.2% annualised."

This Annual Report is my first as Chief Executive of Polar 
Capital, having assumed the role in July last year. I would like 
to thank my predecessor, Tim Woolley, who was not only 
CEO but also a co-founder of the Company. He successfully 
navigated this niche active fund management boutique 
through challenging times following the financial crisis and 
has handed over a sound Company with a strong culture and 
compelling business model.

Market background
The economic backdrop to the year was one of growth with 
global GDP increasing 3.7% in 2017 and forecast growth for 
2018 of 3.9% (Source: IMF). 

Equity markets benefited from continued supportive fiscal 
and monetary policy with broad based global growth in 
2017 emanating from all 46 countries tracked by the OECD, 
the first year this has happened since 2007. Markets during 
the year reached record levels.

During the year under review, the FTSE All Share Index TR 
(GBP) was up 1.4%, the MSCI North America Index TR (USD) 
was up 12.9%, the MSCI All-Country World Index TR (USD) 
was up 14.9%, Topix TR (Yen) was up 15.0%, the MSCI 
Emerging Markets Index TR (USD) was up 24.8% and the 
Dow Jones World Technology Index (USD) TR was up 26.6%.

Volatility during the year was low compared to the historic 
average although it did increase during the first quarter of 
2018 as the interest rate cycle started an upward trend with 
the US 10-year treasury rising to 3.0%. The Dow Jones, for 
example, reached a peak level of 26,616 on 26 January 2018 
but sold-off almost immediately as the US Federal Reserve 
released record unemployment numbers and data prompting 
inflation concerns on the same day. 

Despite increased volatility and the market correction 
in February of this year, most indices have subsequently 
recovered and continued to advance in recent months. 

Initial market concerns about US tariff policy and other geo 
political tensions seem to have been overcome by strong 
company earnings and continued global growth. Whilst both 
the UK and Europe are experiencing growth headwinds, 
the US economy continues to surprise on the upside. UK 
equities have continued to suffer from Brexit concerns and 
European equities have, more recently, been affected by rising 
government bond yields in southern Europe triggered by 
political concerns in Italy.  

Apr 17

Source: Bloomberg

DJ World Technology Index TR FTSE All-Share Index TR S&P 500 30d Volatility

MSCI North America Index TR MSCI All-Country World Index TR TOPIX TR MSCI Emerging Market Index TR

May 17 Jun 17 Jul 17 Aug 17 Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17 Jan 18 Feb 18 Mar 18
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0%
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This year, on average, our long-only UCITS funds out 
performed their passive benchmarks, net of all fees by 2.2%. 
From inception this figure increases to 3.2% annualised.

AUM and fund flows
As stated previously, AUM increased by 29.0% from £9.3bn 
to £12.0bn with £1.9bn contributed by net inflows and 
£800m from market uplift and performance. Net inflows 
were positive across 16 of our 22 funds with six funds 
registering negative net flows in addition to those four funds 
that were terminated during the year.

The UK Value Opportunities Fund which was launched in 
January 2017 was the largest beneficiary of our net inflows 
as a consequence of a compelling process and outstanding 
performance. It received net inflows of £464m taking the 
fund to £650m. The Global Technology Fund received 
£372m followed by the UK Absolute Return Fund which had 
net subscriptions of £337m. The net flows into the two UK 
funds was pleasing given the backdrop of muted industry-
wide demand for UK equities. The Global Insurance Fund 
benefitted from £309m of net inflows taking total fund 
assets to £1.2bn. 

Fund performance
Fund performance this financial year has been generally excellent across our range of open and closed-ended funds. The net 
performance fee earned by the open-ended UCITS funds in the 2017 calendar year was at a record net amount of £15.3m 
compared to £1.2m in the prior year. Performance against both benchmark and peers has been positive across the fund 
range with only a few exceptions. The chart below reflects fund performance over three years and since inception against 
benchmark and provides Lipper peer group ranking for each of our range of open-ended funds. 

62.0%

78.0%

85.0%

99.0%

Top Quartile 
over 1 Year

Top Quartile 
over 3 Years

Top Quartile 
over 5 Years

Top Quartile 
since inception

Performance over time for long and  
alternative UCITS Funds AUM

Source: Lipper figures for long-only and alternative UCITS funds at 31 March 2018.

Annualised UCITS fund performance against benchmark (3yr & since inception)

As at 31 March 2018, the Lipper percentile rankings for our 
UCITS fund range indicated 99.0% of the funds AUM was in  
the top quartile against peer group since inception, with  
85.0% and 78.0% in the top quartile over five-years and  
three-years respectively. 

1st Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile 4th Quartile

Source: Polar Capital factsheet data, 31 March 2018, Lipper quartile rankings as at 31 March2018 *3 year data is unavailable for these funds. ** The Polar Capital Japan Alpha Fund was 
renamed The Polar Capital Japan Value Fund on 12 January 2018. ***Absolute return product, Benchmark: 3 month GBP LIBOR. Funds ordered according to launch date.

Bar 1 = 3 years Bar 2 = since inception
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New investment team
We have recently announced the arrival of an Emerging 
Markets team and the launch of the Emerging Markets 
Stars Fund, the Asia ex-Japan Fund and a China Focus Fund. 
The five strong team previously and successfully managed 
a multi-billion dollar fund strategy for both retail and 
institutional investors delivering first quartile performance 
over three and five years. We anticipate opening a research 
office in Shanghai to ensure closer proximity to the important 
and growing Chinese equity market.

Results

Profits

31 March 
2018
£’m

31 March 
2017
£’m Change

Net management fees 
(net of commissions 
and fees payable) 90.3 67.9 33.0%
Core operating profit 27.8 20.9 33.0%
Performance fee profit 15.3 1.2
Other income 3.3 1.5
Profit before share-
based payments on 
preference shares  
and tax 46.4 23.6 96.6%
Share-based payments 
on preference shares (5.1) (3.2)
Profit before tax £41.3m £20.4m 102.5%
Profit attributable to 
shareholders £32.8m £16.0m
Adjusted diluted 
earnings per share 
(non-GAAP measure) 36.6p 20.4p 79.4%

The Automation and Artificial Intelligence Fund, managed 
by our Technology team, which was launched in October 
2017, received £224m. The North American Fund had net 
subscriptions of £170m making it our largest Fund at £2.0bn. 
Coinciding with a year of compelling performance, the 
Income Opportunities Fund attracted a net £155m while 
the Biotechnology Fund received a net £118m over the 
year. Net inflows of £69m and £66m into the Healthcare 
Opportunities Fund and European Income Fund respectively 
were also notable.

As highlighted in my Interim Report, four funds  were 
terminated in the fourth quarter of 2017; the Global Alpha 
Fund, International Alpha Fund, European Conviction Fund and 
Global Emerging Markets Growth Fund resulting in net outflows 
across all four funds of £182m. The majority of these assets 
were redeployed by investors into other Polar Capital Funds.

Over the year both the Japan Funds as well as the European 
Forager Fund had net outflows – £34m and £63m respectively. 
However, the extent of the net redemptions was significantly 
less than the level of outflows from these funds in the previous 
year. It is pleasing to note that post year-end the Forager Fund 
has had a significant institutional inflow. The Emerging Markets 
Income Fund had a challenging year in terms of performance 
and redemptions with a total net outflow of £191m across the 
UCITS fund and a separate account mandate.

In line with our stated philosophy of managing capacity in 
our fund strategies to preserve performance, the UK Absolute 
Return Fund was soft-closed during the year and the Healthcare 
Opportunities Fund remains closed for new investors.  

Chief Executive's Report continued
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At strategy level, of the eleven strategies which remained open at 
year end, eight had net inflows over the year. 

The Healthcare Investment Trust was successfully restructured 
resulting in a rolled-over Investment Trust with net assets of 
£270m at year-end and a further seven-year life.
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Net profit before tax was £41.3m, an increase of 102.5% on 
the £20.4m reported in the prior year.

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders doubled from 
£16.0m to £32.8m.

Core profit (excluding performance fees and other income) for 
the year was £27.8m, an increase of 33.0% on the previous 
year.

The marked increase in profitability was due to a combination 
of market uplift, fund performance, performance fees, net 
inflows and investment gains on seed capital. Net retained 
performance fees, after deducting the fund managers' shares, 
amounted to £15.3m compared to a modest £1.2m in the 
prior year.

The adjusted diluted earnings per share, adjusting for 
share-based payments on preference shares and deferred 
remuneration costs, rose by 79.4% to 36.6p from 20.4p in  
the prior year.

Regulatory changes
Two significant regulatory changes have affected our 
investment operations during the financial year. The Markets 
in Financial Instruments Directive II (MiFID II) which governs 
how we target investors, trade on their behalf and how those 
trades are monitored became effective on 3 January 2018. We 
have agreed with our clients how research costs are funded 
following the MiFID II implementation and will reassess the 
appropriateness of these arrangements during the course 
of the current financial period. The General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) which determines  how we communicate 
with clients as well as use and store their data became 
effective on 25 May 2018. Client agreements and mandates 
were all amended for our updated privacy policy. 

The industry welcomed the release of the FCA Asset 
Management Market Study on 5 April 2018 and its findings 
are, by and large, already considered as best practice by  
Polar Capital. 

Strategy
In line with a focus on capacity management to preserve the 
performance of existing fund strategies, it is an important 
to add complementary teams and extend existing team 
capability. The emphasis will be on growing by adding to our 
range of fund strategies in terms of style and process while 
also diversifying the client base geographically and by client 
segment. The Company has already made modest progress, 
in developing an institutional offering and also in developing 
client relationships in Asia and North America. We anticipate 
that once the new Emerging Markets team settles and 
establishes a track record, it will have appeal to institutional 
clients.

In order to increase our client servicing presence in the 
European markets, we will, subject to regulatory approval, 
be opening an office in Paris where certain key functions 
will be undertaken for the Company. We have also recruited 
a dedicated resource to focus on building our presence in 
the Nordic region – a further key element of our regional 
diversification strategy.

Outlook
It is comforting that the majority of our strategies have 
performed ahead of benchmark in the more volatile markets 
experienced in the first quarter of 2018. While there remains 
geopolitical tension and the finalisation of Brexit terms cast 
a shadow, we are well positioned as fundamental research-
driven, active fund managers to find opportunities globally 
and to continue to deliver above average returns for our 
clients. 

Gavin Rochussen
Chief Executive

22 June 2018
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Business reviews
As at 31 March 2018 the Group comprised eleven investment teams managing 22 funds and three managed accounts, with 
a further team that joined on 1 June 2018. An overview of each of the investment teams, in chronological sequence of 
establishment, is as follows. 

Business Review 

Polar Capital’s Japanese team consists 
of five specialists – one based in Tokyo 
and four in London. All team members 
undertake regular trips to Japan and 
believe strongly in the importance of 
regular company visits as part of their 
bottom-up, stock picking approach. 
Although they invest across the 
full market cap spectrum, the team 
have a bias towards small and mid-
cap companies where they see the 
greatest valuation imperfections and 
opportunity. Their approach focuses 
on identifying companies trading at a 
discount to their intrinsic worth. The 
team’s portfolios have a value bias 
and tend to be under-represented in 
the more highly valued “growth” and 
defensive sectors. 

After a long period in which “growth” 
has dominated the Japanese market, 
the team expect the market to move 
back towards a more value centric 
approach. This trend is likely to be 
reinforced by the acceleration evident 
in Japanese corporate restructuring 
and by improvements in corporate 
governance. These factors are helping 
to catalyse the release of value in 
many hitherto neglected parts of the 
Japanese market and should act as 
strong positives for Japanese equities 
over the next few years. 

Japan 

Funds managed:
 • Japan
 • Japan Value

Established:
2001

AUM: 

£1.1bn

Years' experience: 

95+ 

Polar Capital’s Technology team is one of 
most respected in the industry. It leverages 
the knowledge and experience of seven 
specialists who run one of the largest 
pools of technology assets in Europe.

The team’s expertise lies in their 
identification of key secular growth 
trends in the industry and on their 
selection of those companies best 
placed to benefit from those trends. 
Their approach emphasises growth 
while managing risk through a detailed 
knowledge of individual companies and 
an intense understanding of corporate 
obsolescence in an industry where 
change is ever-present.

The technology industry has been 
transformed over the last decade by the 
emergence of cloud computing, big data 
and ubiquitous mobile internet access. 

Technology is already disrupting 
multiple industries and the accelerated 
development of artificial intelligence 
and robotics will hasten and extend this 
trend thereby substantially broadening 
the market opportunity. 

The sector continues to enjoy 
outstanding earnings growth together 
with prodigious cash flow generation. 
Although valuations are in the upper 
half of their historic range, the 
combination of a broadening end 
market and outstanding execution at 
a corporate level, support the team’s 
positive outlook and their strong bias 
towards “new generation companies” 
and away from those “incumbent” 
companies which have struggled to 
adapt to the new environment.

Technology

Funds managed:
 • Technology Trust
 • Global Technology
 • Automation & Artificial 

Intelligence

Established:
2001

AUM: 

£3.3bn

Years' experience: 

110+

Team size: 7

Typical number of 
positions:  

50–85

Team size: 5

Typical number of 
positions:  

40–80
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Healthcare 

Funds managed:
 • Global Healthcare Trust
 • Healthcare Opportunities
 • Biotechnology
 • Healthcare Blue Chip

Established: 
2007

AUM:

£1.6bn

Years' experience: 

115+

Team size: 6

Our well-established and highly 
experienced healthcare team has a very 
clear, defined way of managing money: 
they use a bottom-up stock-picking 
approach to construct well-diversified 
but concentrated portfolios that target 
growth at a reasonable price.  This 
conviction approach remains the same 
across the four-strong fund range, each 
of which has a different risk profile and 
provides exposure to different aspects 
of the healthcare sector.

The team views healthcare as a long-
term, secular growth sector as an older 
population drives the demand and the 
need for increased healthcare provision.  
Moreover, technology is transforming 
the way that healthcare is managed, 
delivered and paid for, changing the 
competitive structure of the industry.  

This shifting landscape creates investment 
opportunities that extend well beyond 
the familiar pharmaceutical companies.

Looking ahead, they expect returns to 
be polarised. The winners will be the 
larger companies which adapt to change 
- the consolidators. These will take 
market share as well as delivering stable 
earnings growth and compounding 
returns for investors. Alongside them 
will be smaller firms - the innovators 
- disrupting the sector with new 
technologies, devices, business models, 
drugs, software and services.

European Long/Short 

Fund managed:
 • European Forager

Years' experience: 

50+ 

The team aims to maximise returns at 
a low level of risk by applying a value-
biased, bottom-up approach to stock 
selection. They look to achieve this by 
investing predominantly in mispriced 
small-cap European equities, enhancing 
returns and reducing absolute volatility 
through short sales.

They identify potential investments from a 
large, under-researched universe through 
due diligence that applies fundamental 
research techniques. In particular, they 
evaluate the underlying quality of a 
business franchise as well as its long-term 
prospects of maintaining or improving 
its market position and sustaining 
above-average profitability. This includes 
detailed financial statement analysis and 
maintaining a highly-disciplined approach 
to the price paid for any portfolio holding.

Value investing has recently experienced 
a prolonged period of relative 
underperformance as global monetary 
authorities have suppressed the cost of 
capital to record low levels that have 
emboldened speculators and penalised 
prudence. The value biased Forager 
Fund was adversely impacted by this 
phenomenon in 2015 and the first half 
of 2016. Performance subsequently 
improved through 2017 and 2018 has 
started well. 

The team are enthused by the 
opportunities they currently observe, 
seeing potential for a multi-year revival 
in value investing once interest rates 
normalise. They are confident that their 
proprietary research capabilities leave 
them exceptionally well positioned 
as MiFID II curtails sell-side research 
coverage.

Established: 
2003

AUM: 

£178.3m

Typical number of 
positions:  

80–120
Team size: 4

Typical number of 
positions:  

40–60*

* Healthcare Blue Chip has 25-30 stocks.
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Emerging Markets Income
The team’s approach is to focus on 
companies generating high returns on 
capital with strong cashflow generation 
thus enabling them to both invest and 
grow as well as to pay dividends. The 
style is GARP (growth at a reasonable 
price) with a strong emphasis on 
‘reasonable’. Although stock selection is 
the key driver of portfolio construction 
and the main source of alpha. The team 
also use a top-down overlay to identify 
the countries and sectors that provide the 
best opportunities. 

Recent years have seen an extraordinary 
disparity of returns with low-yielding 
growth stocks, led by a number 
of Chinese software companies, 
substantially outperforming the 
benchmark while higher-yielding 
companies have lagged considerably. 

This trend has masked a significant 
development over the past couple of 
years, notably the return of capital 
discipline. The lack of that discipline in 
the past had led to overcapacity and 
margin contraction, the key factors in 
the underperformance of the asset class 
from 2011-16. This rediscovered discipline 
is leading to a significant increase in free 
cashflow which should see payout ratios 
increase and dividends become an even 
larger portion of total returns. 

Fund managed:
 • Emerging Market Income

Established:
2010

AUM: 

£159.5m

Typical number of 
positions: 

50

Years' experience: 

55+

Team size: 3

Financials

Funds managed:
 • Income Opportunities
 • Global Insurance
 • Financial Opportunities 
 • Asian Opportunities
 • Global Financials Trust

Established:
2010

AUM:

£1.8bn

Financials make up close to 20% of 
the MSCI World Index, with banks and 
insurance companies helping to oil the 
wheels of the world’s economy. Since 
the financial crisis the sector has been 
largely undervalued and under-owned. 
Our experienced specialist team of 
eight are responsible for five Funds, 
of which Global Insurance and Asian 
Opportunities are two of the oldest at 
Polar Capital. 

The managers are all bottom-up stock 
pickers using their own proprietary 
analysis of companies built up over 
many years. 

The Income Opportunities Fund provides 
investors with attractive income returns, 
together with an opportunity for capital 
growth by investing in both fixed-
income securities and equities. The 
Global Insurance Fund invests in the 
global non-life insurance industry. 

It focuses on absolute returns driven by 
book value per share growth through a 
portfolio of 30-35 shares. 

The Financial Opportunities Fund and 
Asian Opportunities Fund (ex-Japan) 
provide exposure to a broad mix of 
financial companies and to Asian markets 
respectively with both focused on capital 
growth. The Global Financials Trust has 
a spread of banks, insurance companies, 
asset managers and other financial 
businesses. All the Funds have a quality 
bias and a long-term investment horizon.

The team is positive about the future 
of the financial sector, which offers 
good value and long-term growth 
opportunities supported by improving 
economic activity together with rising 
interest rates. 

Team size: 8

Years' experience: 

155+

Typical number of 
positions: 

40-80*

* Global Insurance has 30–35 stocks.

Business Review continued
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North America
The North America equity team’s active 
approach to investing is research-driven 
and based on, long-term fundamental 
and bottom-up stock analysis. The team 
seek to identify companies that offer 
both current value as well as delivering 
long-term value creation.

This dual emphasis allows the portfolio 
to benefit from the three sources of 
potential return in a stock: operational 
growth, capital return and valuation 
appreciation. This approach means the 
portfolio should benefit from a double 
margin of safety: a fundamental margin 
of safety as well as a valuation margin 
of safety. The team's strong returns over 
the last 12 months reflect good stock 
selection with returns coming from a 
variety of different types of business 
rather than from narrow areas of the 
market or from any one individual theme. 

The fund benefited from the market 
becoming a little more discriminating 
about other quality factors such as 
balance sheet strength.

Although the economic cycle is in its 
tenth year, the team believes the current 
environment is still conducive for well-
placed businesses to continue to grow 
at attractive rates. However, issues to 
watch include heightened corporate 
leverage after years of very low interest 
rates, technology induced disruption, 
maturity of the broader profit cycle and 
a normalisation of monetary policy. The 
managers’ approach to investing means 
the portfolio is well placed to navigate 
these concerns.Fund managed:

 • North American

Established:
2011

AUM: 

£2.0bn

Team size: 4

Years' experience:

60+

Convertibles
The convertible team manages a 
fundamentally-driven fund which 
provides upside equity market 
participation with capital protection 
and a good, stable income. The team 
focuses on credit and convexity analysis 
with upside catalysts, to identify 
securities that will provide investors with 
good risk-adjusted returns together with 
a consistent level of income.

Since late in Q1 2018, the team started 
to see a rise in volatility resulting from a 
combination of trade tensions between 
the US and China, ongoing upheaval in 
the White House and signs of potential 
slowdown in global growth. The team 
believes that equity market uncertainty 
and volatility will remain at these higher 
levels or increase further still, either 

of which should ensure convertible 
valuations will remain well supported.

The team believe that the secular bond 
bull market is over and that investors 
will need an alternative to traditional 
fixed income investing. This should 
lead to an increasing demand for 
convertibles which is already being 
met by increased primary issuance 
- in Q1 2018 there was $26.8bn of 
new issuance globally, an increase of 
11% compared to Q1 2017. The team 
believes that primary issuance will 
continue to increase throughout 2018. 
This will offer investors a growing 
asset class and a greater, more diverse 
opportunity set.

Fund managed:
 • Global Convertible 

Established:
 2010

AUM: 

£453m

Years' experience: 

100+

Team size: 5

Typical number of 
positions:  

50–80

Typical number of 
positions:  

40–60
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Business Review continued

European Income

Funds managed:
 • European Income
 • European ex UK Income

Years' experience: 

14

Polar Capital’s European Income team 
focuses on the compounding power 
of dividend growth over the medium 
term and aim to achieve a double digit 
annual return from investing in quality 
companies. With their value focus, 
the team target a dividend yield 10% 
above that of the index through buying 
high quality companies when they are 
cheap and out of favour. 

The fund has a structural bias towards 
defensive stocks reflecting the focus on 
quality. This together with the headwind 
facing equity income strategies in 
recent years from rising bond yields 
has provided a tough environment 
for the fund over the last few years. 
However, the team believe that low risk, 
compounding dividend payers remain 
an attractive investment proposition. 

The team are positive about the 
outlook for their funds. They believe 
that the valuation of many defensive 
stocks together with the visibility and 
resilience of their earnings are under-
appreciated by the market. Following 
several years of central bank driven 
asset price reflation, they expect future 
equity returns to be driven more by 
underlying earnings growth than by 
any market rerating.

Established: 
2014

AUM: 

£188.2m

UK Absolute

The team take a fundamental approach 
to investing involving detailed due 
diligence on individual companies as 
well as on emerging and maturing 
sectoral trends. They look for mis-
pricings in the market and are focused 
on sourcing those ideas that offer the 
best combinations of reward and risk. 

The team manages an all cap long-
short fund which aims to deliver a 
positive absolute return over rolling 
12 month periods. While the fund 
is predominantly invested in UK 
Companies, it retains the flexibility to 
invest a material portion of its assets in 
global equities.

As economic growth gathered 
momentum in 2017, the fund increased 
its market exposure over the year. 
However, the team expect volatility 
to rise during 2018 and, while this 
may present additional challenges to 
long only investors, they believe that 
it should enhance the opportunity set 
available to the fund.

Fund managed:
 • UK Absolute Equity

Established:
2014

AUM: 

£536.7m

Team size: 3

Years' experience:

15+

Typical number of 
positions:  

40-100

Typical number of 
positions:  

25-50
Team size: 2
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UK Value

Fund managed:
 • UK Value Opportunities

Established:
2017

AUM: 

£649.3m

Typical number of 
positions: 

65

Years' experience: 

25+

Team size: 2

Emerging Market Stars
The newest team to join Polar Capital is 
the five-strong emerging markets team 
led by Jorry Noeddekaer who spent 
the past seven years with Nordea Asset 
Management in Denmark. 

The team are fundamental, bottom-up, 
stock pickers with a long-term view 
and a well established, top-decile track 
record. Their core objective is to add 
alpha by identifying companies whose 
potential growth in value that is mispriced. 
They seek to do this by leveraging 
their strong analytical skills and on the 
ground company relationships. Part of 
this process includes a detailed analysis 
of a company’s ESG (Environmental, 
Social Responsibility and Governance): 
characteristics that are most likely to 
create long-term sustainable shareholder 
returns. They also look for potential 
improvements in a company’s ESG profile 

as an indicator of an improved outlook 
for the company and thereby enhanced 
returns.

The outlook for corporate profits in 
Emerging Markets is good. However, 
markets have only priced in relatively 
low growth and return expectations. 
Consequently, the team believes that, 
higher quality companies, in particular, 
offer a good balance of risk and reward.

The team also sees interesting 
opportunities in the more cyclical 
markets, most immediately in India and 
China. In terms of sectors, they favour 
technology, financials and selective 
consumer areas. 

Funds managed:
 • Planned launch date Q3 2018

Established:
2018

Typical number of 
positions: 

50-55
Years' experience:

50+ 
Team size: 5

Polar Capital’s two UK Value managers 
have followed the same bottom up, 
research-driven process for nearly a 
decade. They run an unconstrained and 
uncorrelated fund with a very high active 
share and invest in companies whose 
asset base or value creation they believe 
are materially under-appreciated by the 
market. They focus on companies with 
good earnings visibility and strong market 
positions. Examples include infrastructure 
related businesses, house builders and 
suppliers of essential services. 

Although UK inflation is stabilising 
following sterling’s post Brexit 
referendum weakness, household 
spending will continue to be subdued 
as the UK consumer remains in a very 
tough spot. However, while there are still 
pockets of danger, the team see plenty 
of good opportunities given the relative 
cheapness of the UK market.
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This year a second adjustment is being disclosed to the adjusted 
EPS figure. IFRS requires that any compensation deferred is to 
be accounted for over the period that the deferred amounts 
vest. The Group considers it prudent, and consistent with the 
principle of matching, that the adjusted EPS figure accounts 
for such costs in the period in which the compensation 
triggering the deferment is earned. In 2018 this has resulted 
in a 3.4p reduction to the adjusted EPS figure (2017: nil).

Results for the year – Revenues

Revenues

31 March  
2018  
£’m

31 March  
2017  
£’m

Net management fees (net of 
commissions and fees payable) 90.3 67.9
Performance fees 35.6 2.7
Profit / (loss) on forward currency 
contracts – (2.4)
Total net revenues £125.9m £68.2m
Other income £3.3m £1.5m
Net income £129.2m £69.7m

The quantum of management fees earned by the Group is 
conventionally a factor of, firstly, the quantum of Assets Under 
Management (AUM) managed by the Group and secondly, the 
fee rate charged on the AUM. 

The increase in the Group’s net management fees from £67.9m 
in 2017 to £90.3m this year, a 33% increase, is simply a 
function of the increase in the Group’s AUM.

The excellent relative performance of the Group’s funds has 
resulted in the significant uplift in performance fees revenue. 
The variance from last year highlights both the disappointing 
quantum of such fees  in 2017 as well as the fact that the 
2018 figure was the highest level of performance fees that 
the Group has produced in its 18-year history.  

Financial Review

John Mansell
Chief Operating Officer and Finance Director

Introduction
Since the IPO of the Company in 2007 the face of the 
Consolidated Income Statement has included a separate line 
identifying a Share Based Payments (SBP) charge. The origin 
of the charge was the existence of the Group’s Preference 
Shares that are held by the Group’s lead investment managers, 
a feature of which is the future issuance of equity in exchange 
for the forfeiture of a manager’s economic interest in the 
management fee profits of their business. Despite being 
designed to be earnings enhancing, and therefore non-
dilutive, the nature of the instruments mandated a SBP charge.

The separate disclosure of the SBP charge has enabled the 
Group to explain the reasons for, and the maths behind, a 
non-GAAP adjusted Earnings Per Share (EPS) figure, a figure 
that has had the Preference Share component of the SBP 
charge excluded from the statutory EPS figure.

The arrival of the firm’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and 
the imposition of deferment on bonuses has now created 
other contributors to the SBP charge. Suddenly the relative 
simplicity of the components making up the charge has 
gone.  Therefore, this year the components of the SBP charge 
have been subsumed into the Operating Cost line of the 
Consolidated Income Statement and the notes to the accounts 
(note 3.6) separately disclose the make-up of the SBP charge.

In relation to the adjusted EPS figure the cost of the share-based 
payments charge relating to the Group’s Preference Shares 
continues to be excluded from the IFRS derived EPS figure.
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Share-based payments
The make-up of costs of share-based payments as disclosed 
above is as follows:

Share based payments

31 March 
2018 
£’m

31 March 
2017 
£’m

Cost attributed to preference shares 5.1 3.2
Cost attributed to LTIPs and  
initial shares 1.8 –
Cost attributed to Group  
share awards 0.7 0.9
Cost attributed to deferred  
bonus awards 1.1 –
Total cost of share-based payments £8.7m £4.1m

The increase in this charge is dominated by the increase in 
the charge associated with the Group’s preference shares 
(see below) and an estimated charge for LTIP awards for the 
2018 year end.

Results for the year – Profits

Profits

31 March 
2018  
£’m

31 March 
2017
£’m

Core operating profit1 27.8 20.9
Performance fee profit2 15.3 1.2
Other income 3.3 1.5
Profit before share-based 
payments on preference  
shares and tax 46.4 23.6
Share-based payments on 
preference shares (5.1) (3.2)
Profit before tax £41.3m £20.4m

1.  Including cost of LTIP, Group share awards and deferred share awards to 
31 March 2018 of £2.8m (2017: £0.9m).

2. Including cost of deferred share awards of £0.8m (2017: nil).

The headline profit before tax for the year has increased to 
£41.3m from last year’s £20.4m.

The Group believes that the best measure of the Group’s 
profitability is the profit before share-based payments on 
preference shares and tax. The reason for excluding the 
share-based payments on preference shares charge is that 
the Group’s preference shares as an instrument deliver, when 
they vest, an uplift to EPS and are not a detractor. On this 
basis the Group has delivered a rise in profits to £46.4m 
compared to last year’s £23.6m. The analysis of the different 
components of profits shows that:

Results for the year – Costs

Costs

31 March  
2018  
£’m

31 March 
2017  
£’m

Salaries, bonuses and  
other staff costs 20.9 16.9
Core distributions1 22.9 14.8
Core cash compensation costs 43.8 31.7
NIC on share options 1.7 (0.6)
Share-based payments2 7.6 4.1
Other operating costs 14.5 12.6
Core operating costs 67.6 47.8
Performance fee interests3 20.3 1.5
Total operating costs £87.9m £49.3m

1. Including share awards under deferment plan of £0.3m (2017: nil).

2. Share-based payments on preference shares, Group share awards and LTIPs.

3. Including share awards under deferment plan of £0.8m (2017: nil).

Total operating costs rose to £87.9m from £49.3m last year.  

The first comment to make is that, as identified in my 
introduction, this year Operating Costs included the cost of 
SBP that amount to £8.7m in 2018 (2017: £4.1m). A separate 
analysis of the cost is detailed in the Share-based payments 
section that follows.

The increase in salaries, bonuses and other staff costs was 
a product of the increase in head count in the firm (year 
end staff numbers increased from 116 to 122) as well as 
an increase in the discretionary bonuses paid following the 
improved performance of the Group.

The increase in core distributions was a function of the rise 
in management fee revenues and the management fee 
profitability of the firm. 

The National Insurance cost on share options is a product of, 
and is sensitive to, the Company’s share price. The reduction in 
the provision in 2017 resulted from the fall in the Company’s 
share price over the year and this year the rise in the Company’s 
share price has increased the necessary provision.

The increase in other operating costs is a product of mainly 
two factors. The first being the existence for the first time of 
one quarter’s MiFID II research costs (the costs commenced 
from 1 January 2018). The second component is an increase 
in the Group’s general IT costs as continuing investment is 
made into the firm’s infrastructure.

The rise in performance fee interests to £20.3m from £1.5m 
last year is directly correlated to the increase in performance 
fee revenues.
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 • Core operating profits

  The increase in profits reflects the rise in management fee 
revenues driven by the increase in average value of assets 
managed over the year.

 • Performance fee profits

  Stronger performance across the product range compared 
to last year has resulted in the significant improvement in 
performance fee profits.

 • Other income

  The increase in contribution is a product of the good 
performance of the investments held on the  
balance sheet.

Earnings per share
The effect that the charge for share-based payments on 
preference shares and deferment have on the EPS figures of 
the Group is as follows:

Earnings per share

31 March  
2018  

Pence

31 March  
2017  

Pence

Diluted earnings per share 34.7 17.0
Impact of share-based payments – 
preference shares only 5.3 3.4
Impact of deferment, where IFRS 
defers cost into future periods (3.4) –
Adjusted diluted EPS 36.6p 20.4p

Preference shares
A separate class of preference share is issued by Polar Capital 
Partners Limited for purchase by each new team of fund 
managers on their arrival at the Company or in certain cases on 
the launch of a new fund. These shares provide each manager 
with an economic interest in the funds that they run and 
ultimately enable the manager to convert their interest in the 
revenues generated from their funds into equity in Polar Capital 
Holdings plc. The equity is awarded in return for the forfeiture 
of their current core economic interest and vests over three 
years with the full quantum of the dilution being reflected in 
the diluted share count (and so diluted EPS) from the point of 
conversion. The event has been designed to be, at both the 
actual and the diluted levels, earnings enhancing to shareholders.

In the year to 31 March 2018 (as was also the case in the 
year to March 2017) there were no new conversions of 
preference shares into Polar Capital Holdings equity. 

As at 31 March 2018 three sets of preference shares have 
the ability to call for a conversion. The call has to be made 
on or before 30 November 2018 if any conversion is to 
take place with effect from 31 March 2018. It is the relative 
success and profitability of the funds represented by these 
three sets of preference share that accounts for the increased 
cost attributed to preference shares that has been identified 
above (2018: £5.1m versus 2017: £3.2m).

Balance sheet and cash
At the year end the cash balances of the Group were £87.9m 
(2017: £58.5m). The increase was a product of the increased 
profitability of the Group and was helped also by the reduction, 
over the year, in the Group’s small portfolio of seed investments. 

At the balance sheet date the Group held £18.4m of 
investments in its funds (2017: £22.1m). 

Capital management
The Group believes in retaining a strong balance sheet. The 
capital that is retained in the business is used to either seed 
new investment products or if not so required is invested into 
the Group’s absolute return funds as investment capital. As at 
March 2018 there were £9.8m of investments and £8.6m of the 
Group’s balance sheet was invested in fledgling funds. 

The Group’s dividend policy is to distribute the majority of  
its earnings.

Business risk
There are a range of risks and uncertainties faced by the 
Group which are more fully described later in the Strategic 
Report. Amongst the major risks to the business strategy is 
the loss of assets under management due to markets falling, 
poor investment performance or the loss of key investment 
personnel. These events will not only have an immediate 
impact on the management fees earned by the Group but 
also deprive the Group of possible performance fees.

Going concern
The Financial Reporting Council has determined that all 
companies should carry out a rigorous assessment of all the 
factors affecting the business in deciding to adopt a going 
concern basis for the preparation of the accounts.

The Directors have reviewed and examined the financial and 
other processes embedded in the business, in particular the 
annual budget process and the financial stress testing inherent 
in the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”). 
On the basis of such review, and the significant liquid assets 
underpinning the balance sheet relative to the Group’s 
predictable operating cost profile, the Directors consider that 
the adoption of a going concern basis, covering a period of at 
least 12 months from the date of this report, is appropriate.

BREXIT
The Group is manager of only three UK resident products and 
all are closed end Investment Trusts that are not marketed 
into continental Europe. The Group is also the appointed 
manager of an Irish UCITS that is distributed throughout 
Europe. As there remains uncertainty over the arrangements 
that will apply from March 2019 the Group is opening an AMF 
regulated subsidiary in France through which all European 
activities, including all European distribution, will be funnelled. 

John Mansell
Finance Director

22 June 2018

Financial Review continued
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The Group uses the following Non-GAAP APMs:

Core operating profit

Definition: Profit before performance fee profits, other 
income,and tax.

Reconciliation: Page 17.

Reason for use: to present users of the accounts with a 
clear view of what the Group considers to be the results of 
its underlying operations before items which may either be  
non-recurring or non-cash in nature and taxation.

Performance fee profit

Definition: Gross performance fee income less performance 
fee interests due to staff.

Reconciliation: Pages 16 and 17.

Reason for use: to present users of the accounts with a clear 
view of the net amount of performance fee earned by the 
Group after accounting for staff remuneration payable that is 
directly attributable to performance fee revenues generated.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share

Definition: Profit after tax but (a) excluding cost of share-
based payments on preference shares and (b) allowing for 
the net cost of deferred staff remuneration, divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares

Reconciliation: Note 3.8.

Reason for use: to present users of the accounts with 
a clear view of what the Group considers to be the 
distributions from its underlying operations. The Group 
believes that (a) as the preference share awards have been 
designed to be earnings enhancing to shareholders (See 
page 18) adjusting for this non-cash item provides a better 
understanding of the financial performance of the Group 
and (b) comparing staff remuneration and profits generated 
in the same time period (rather than deferring remuneration 
over a longer vesting period) allows users of the accounts to 
again a better understanding of the Group’s results and their 
comparability period on period.

Net management fee

Definition: Gross management fee income less commissions 
and fees payable.

Reconciliation: Page 16.

Reason for use: to present a subtotal of fee revenue after 
accounting for items without which some of the revenue 
would not have been earned.

Core distributions

Definition: Variable compensation payable to  
investment teams.

Reconciliation: Page 16.

Reason for use: to present users of the accounts with 
additional information not required for disclosure by 
accounting standards, thereby assisting users of the  
accounts in understanding key components of variable costs.

Profit before share-based payments on 
preference shares

Definition: profit before tax but excluding cost of  
share-based payments on preference Shares.

Reconciliation: Financial Review, page 17.

Reason for use: The Group believes that as preference share 
awards have been designed to be earnings enhancing to 
shareholders (see page 18) adjusting for this non-cash item 
provides a better understanding of the financial performance 
of the Group.

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) 
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Risk Management

The Group, as any business operating in the financial services sector, faces a number of challenges to its 
successful operation and development. The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are addressed 
through a risk management framework that provides a structured process for identifying, assessing and 
managing risks associated with the Group’s business objectives and strategy. The Board's assessment of the 
changes to the risks are shown below.

Economic and  
market risk

Portfolio risk

Description
Economic risks arise from the concept, 
design and implementation of the 
Group’s business model. The Group 
operates in a highly competitive 
industry and if it is unable to compete 
effectively with its competitors 
its business could be adversely 
affected. Polar Capital’s key areas 
for competition include historical 
investment performance, its ability to 
attract and retain the best investment 
professionals and quality of service.

Mitigation
The Board reviews the business 
strategy periodically and considers 
financial, fund performance and 
operational information regularly. The 
Group’s reputation is one of its most 
important assets since it operates in 
an industry where integrity, customer 
trust and confidence are paramount. 
The Group’s in-house compliance and 
risk teams provide a system of internal 
controls which seek to ensure that 
events which could damage or call into 
question the reputation of the Group, 
its products or staff are prevented.

Assessment
Risk is elevated from 2017 as 
investment markets enter another  
year of a protracted bull market.

Description 
Poor fund performance or adverse 
market conditions could lead to 
outflows of AUM and consequent 
damage to the financial position of  
the Group.

Mitigation 
The Group has a formal Risk 
Committee for portfolio risk that 
convenes monthly and is chaired by 
the Group’s Chief Risk Officer (‘CRO’) 
and comprises the Chief Executive, the 
Chief Operating Officer, the Global 
Head of Distribution and Mr Ashford-
Russell. The Committee reviews all the 
portfolios managed by the Group and 
has presented to it analysis produced 
by the CRO relating to portfolio 
structure, exposure, concentration, 
returns, liquidity and risk. Portfolio 
managers present to this Committee 
on a regular basis or when requested.

Regular contact is maintained with 
all clients and fund investors and the 
strategy of the Group is to diversify its 
earnings streams to be less susceptible to 
market movements, poor performance in 
different sectors or geographies. 

Assessment
Unchanged from previous year despite 
the greater economic uncertainty.

Description 
The Group is also subject to the 
effects of exchange rate fluctuations 
as Sterling is the Group’s reporting 
currency but the Group’s business 
is often transacted in jurisdictions 
which generate revenue, expenses 
and liabilities in other currencies. 
A summary of the Group’s foreign 
currency exposures as at 31 March 
2017 can be found in Note 4.3(c) to  
the accounts.

Mitigation 
The Group looks to hedge an 
appropriate element of its exposure 
to foreign currency exchange 
rate fluctuations.

Assessment
Unchanged from previous year despite 
the greater economic uncertainty.
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Pages 1 to 21 constitute the strategic report, which was approved by the Board on 22 June 2018 and signed on its  
behalf by:

Neil Taylor
Company Secretary

22 June 2018

Key staff risk Regulatory risk Operational risk

Description 
The Group has a number of key 
fund managers the loss of which 
could result in significant investor 
redemptions from the funds they 
manage and loss of revenue to  
the Group.

Mitigation 
Through the Group culture, team 
support and providing each team  
with an economic interest in the 
success of their funds and the  
overall business, the Group offers  
a highly attractive environment  
for investment professionals.

Assessment
Unchanged from previous year.

Description 
Failure to comply with regulations in 
the jurisdictions in which it operates, 
particularly those issued by the 
Financial Conduct Authority or the 
London Stock Exchange, could result 
in the Group losing the ability to 
operate as a regulated financial  
services business or its AIM quotation 
being suspended or withdrawn.

Mitigation 
In the context of the current regulatory 
environment, the Board believes its 
regulated business has sufficient 
resources for compliance monitoring 
and to take corrective action when 
warranted.

The Group seeks to operate within 
applicable Financial Conduct Authority 
Principles, Rules and Regulations and 
those issued by the London Stock 
Exchange to govern the trading of  
the Company’s shares on AIM.

The Board through the work of the 
Audit Committee receives and reviews 
regular reports on the compliance 
controls in place to prevent or detect 
any non-compliance of the Group  
with rules and regulations.

The Audit Committee Report on  
pages 32 to 34 provides further  
details on the work undertaken.

Assessment
Risk is elevated as MiFID II and GDPR  
are implemented.

Description 
Operational risk arises from potentially 
inadequate or failed processes, from 
people and also from external events. 
Operational risk has financial and 
non-financial impacts and the Group’s 
objective is to manage and mitigate 
risk exposure by ensuring operational 
risk policies are developed and applied 
consistently and effectively throughout 
the Group.

If any of the Group’s financial, 
accounting or other data processing 
systems do not operate properly or are 
disabled or, if there are other failures in 
the Group’s internal processes, people 
or systems, the Group could suffer 
financial loss, business disruption, 
liability to clients, regulatory problems 
or damage to its reputation.

Mitigation 
The Group’s core businesses have in 
place disaster recovery plans covering 
current business requirements, which 
are tested annually to ensure an 
appropriate level of resilience in the day 
to day operations and minimise the risk 
of severe disruption occurring.

The Board regularly reviews statements 
on internal controls and procedures 
and has on an annual basis subjected 
the Group to an annual internal control 
audit carried out in accordance with 
ISAE 3402 – Assurance Reports on 
Controls at a Service Organisation.

Assessment
Unchanged from previous year.
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Board of Directors

Tom Bartlam
Non-executive Chairman
Appointed to the Board in July 2007 and became Chairman in  
September 2007.

Tom was a Managing Director of Intermediate Capital Group plc which he 
co-founded from 1989 until his retirement in 2005. He is non-executive 
Chairman of Jupiter UK Growth Trust plc.

Gavin Rochussen
Chief Executive 
Appointed to the Board on 17 July 2017.

Gavin was previously Group Chief Executive at J O Hambro Capital 
Management Limited (JOHCM). Prior to JOHCM, Gavin was Group Chief 
Executive at Fleming Family & Partners Limited, a European multi-family 
office. Gavin qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1983 in South 
Africa and was a founding partner of Anderson Rochussen Crisp Inc, 
a professional services practice, where he led the firm between 1984–
1996. Before moving to the UK in 2002, he was Group Finance Director 
at Allied Electronics Corporation Limited, a JSE listed group. Gavin is 
advisor to Amigona Holdings Inc, an investment holding Company, 
an Independent Advisor to James Hambro & Partners LLP, a wealth 
management boutique. 

Non-executive Chairman and Executive Directors 
As at 31 March 2018

John Mansell
Chief Operating Officer and Finance Director
Appointed to the Board in 2002.

John joined Brian Ashford-Russell and Tim Woolley in 2001 to form  
Polar Capital.

Prior to this John spent 11 years at Lazard Asset Management. John is a 
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales.
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Hugh Aldous 
Non-executive Director and 
Chairman of the Audit Committee
Appointed to the Board in 2007.

Hugh was a partner in Grant Thornton UK 
LLP and formerly RSM Robson Rhodes from 
1976, where he was latterly head of its 
financial services team. He was a member 
of the Competition Commission. Hugh is 
Chairman of SPL Guernsey ICC Ltd, Downing 
Strategic Micro-Cap Investment Trust plc. 
and is a non-executive Director of Innospec 
Inc and Elderstreet VCT plc. 

Brian Ashford-Russell 
Non-executive Director  
and Founder
Appointed to the Board in 2002.

Brian was head of the technology team at 
Henderson Global Investors from 1987 until 
September 2000 and is a co-founder of 
Polar Capital. He was the appointed fund 
manager of Polar Capital Technology Trust 
plc, from launch in 1996 until May 2006. 
He is a Director of Polar Capital Technology 
Trust plc.

Jamie Cayzer-Colvin 
Non-executive Director
Appointed to the Board in 2002.

Jamie is a Director of Caledonia Investments 
plc and Chairman of Henderson Smaller 
Companies Investment Trust plc.

Jamie is also a Director of Polar Capital Funds 
plc and Chairman of the RHS Pension fund. 

Win Robbins 
Non-executive Director
Appointed to the Board on  
22 June 2017 

Win is a non-executive Director of City 
Merchants High Yield Trust Ltd. a Jersey- 
domiciled, London-listed investment trust, 
a non-executive member of the Investment 
Committee of St. James Place Partnership PLC 
and until 12 June 2018 was a Trustee Director 
and Chair of the Investment Committee of 
NOW: Pensions. Win is also an Independent 
Trustee on the Institute of Cancer Research 
Pension Fund.

Michael Thomas 
Non-executive Director
Appointed to the Board in 2008.

Michael was a Director of Martin Currie 
Limited and investment manager of the 
Japanese team until his retirement in 2007.

Tim Woolley 
Non-executive Director and Founder
Appointed to the Board in 2002. Tim was 
Chief Executive from November 2009 to 17 
July 2017 when he became non-executive.

Tim joined Henderson Global Investor’s 
technology team in 1996 and left with Brian 
Ashford-Russell to establish Polar Capital  
in 2001.

Non-executive Directors

Committee Membership is set out on  
page 30.

There are no shared Directorships. 
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Directors' Report

Status and trading
The financial results for the year ended 31 March 2018 are 
set out in the attached financial statements. Matters relating 
to the future developments of the business and identification 
of branches are given in the Strategic Report. 

Polar Capital’s objectives are set out in the Strategic Report 
on page 3. Its main country of operation is the UK.

The Company is incorporated in England and Wales as a 
public limited Company under registered number 4235369 
and its registered office is at 16 Palace Street, London SW1E 
5JD. The Company is subject to the Rules of the Alternative 
Investment Market (AIM), UK and European regulations 
including Company law, financial reporting standards, 
taxation law, Financial Conduct Authority and other 
regulators in countries in which the Company carries out its 
regulated business and its own Articles of Association.

Directors
Biographies of the Directors who served during the year are 
set out on pages 22 and 23. 

Changes during the year:

 • Win Robbins was appointed as a Director on 22 June 2017 
and successfully stood for election by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 25 July 2017. 

 • Gavin Rochussen was appointed as a Director and Chief 
Executive Officer on 17 July 2017 and will stand for 
election by shareholders at the AGM on 25 July 2018. 

 • George Bumeder retired as a Director on 26 July 2017. 

All the Directors, with the exceptions stated above, held 
office throughout the year under review and up to the 
signing of this Report.

The remuneration, principal terms of employment and 
the interests of the Directors in the Company’s shares and 
options are detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
on pages 35 to 42.

The Articles of Association require all Directors who held 
office at the time of the two preceding AGMs, and did not 
retire by rotation at either of them, to retire from office by 
rotation and all new Directors appointed by the Board are 
required to seek election by shareholders at the next general 
meeting of the Company following their appointment. 

Dividends
The Directors have declared two interim dividends in respect 
of the financial year ended 31 March 2018 amounting to 
28.0p per share (2017: 25.0p per share). The first interim 
dividend of 6.0p per share was paid on 12 January 2018 
to shareholders on the register on 29 December 2017. The 
second interim dividend of 22.0p per share will be paid on 
27 July 2018 to shareholders on the register on 6 July 2018. 
The shares will trade ex dividend from 5 July 2018.

Directors’ interests and conflicts
None of the non-executive Directors except for Brian 
Ashford-Russell have any interest in any contract with the 
Group or Company. Brian Ashford-Russell is a non-executive 
Director of Polar Capital Technology Trust plc which has 
contracted with Polar Capital LLP for the provision of 
investment management services. Details are provided in 
Note 4.12.

The Board has approved a policy on the disclosure, approval 
and management of Directors’ conflicts of interest and its 
application is described on page 28. 

Remuneration code
Disclosure of the Group’s Remuneration Code is made 
alongside its Pillar 3 disclosure which is available on the 
Group’s website: www.polarcapital.co.uk.

Capital structure
The capital structure of the Company is detailed in Note 4.9. 
The fully paid ordinary shares of the Company are traded  
on AIM and it has not made any arrangements for its shares 
to be admitted or traded on any other exchanges or  
trading platforms. 

The Board seeks shareholder approval at each Annual 
General Meeting to allot ordinary shares, disapply pre-
emption rights and to make market purchase of ordinary 
shares. The separate Notice of Annual General Meeting sets 
out the resolutions and the accompanying Chairman’s letter 
explains their purpose and any use made by the Board of  
the authorities.

Rights attaching to the shares 
On a show of hands at a general meeting of the Company 
every holder of an ordinary share present in person or by 
proxy shall have one vote and each ordinary share has one 
vote on a poll. All ordinary shares rank equally for dividends.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of the fully paid 
ordinary shares other than those where the Company is 
entitled to refuse to register a transfer of a fully paid ordinary 

The Directors present their report including reports from the Board Committees, a report on the corporate 
governance arrangements and the audited consolidated financial statements of Polar Capital Holdings plc 
(‘the Company’) and the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018. 
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share under the Uncertificated Securities Regulations. 
There are no special rights with regard to control attached 
to the shares, no agreements between holders of the shares 
regarding their transfer known to the Company and no 
agreement to which the Company is a party that affects its 
control following a takeover bid. The Company is subject to 
the UK City code on Takeovers and Mergers.

Upon a winding up, after meeting the liabilities of the 
Company, the surplus assets would be distributed to 
shareholders pro-rata to their holdings of ordinary shares.

Issued share capital and changes in the year
The number of ordinary shares in issue at the year end  
was 93,402,415 (2017: 91,422,309). During the year the 
Company issued 1,980,106 (2017: 206,298) ordinary shares 
to cover the exercise of share options. Since the year-end and 
up to the date of this report a further 141,717 shares have 
been issued to satisfy share option exercises and the current 
issued share capital is 93,544,132 ordinary shares.

Employee benefit trust arrangements
The Employee Benefit Trust held 2,555,653 ordinary shares 
at the year end (2017: 1,878,987) for the benefit of the 
Company and its employees. The shares held by the Trustee 
of the EBT are held in two pools. 1,752,686 shares are held 
in a general pool to be used to satisfy the future exercise of 
share options awarded by the Company and possible future 
Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) awards and 802,967 shares 
are held to satisfy the initial award made under the terms 
of the Group's Executive Incentive Plan to Gavin Rochussen 
on his appointment as CEO. The initial award vests in three 
equal traches on the first, second and third anniversary 
of its granting. For further details see the Remuneration 
Committee Report. 

The Trustee has waived the dividend in respect of the shares 
held in the general pool and it receives and distributes the 
dividends in respect of the 802,967 shares. 

The Trustee seeks directions from the Company for the 
casting of votes in respect of the shares in the General Pool 
and from Gavin Rochussen in respect of the 802,967 shares. 
The Company has requested that the votes attached to the 
shares in the general pool are not cast. 

Substantial shareholdings
As at 22 June 2018, the Company had received notices 
for the purposes of Part 5 of the FCA’s Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules and PDMR notifications from the 
undernoted shareholders. The percentage voting rights is 
calculated based on the number of shares shown in the 
notice divided by 93,544,132, the number of shares in issue 
as at 22 June 2018:

There have been no changes notified to the Company since 
31 March 2018 and the date of this report.

Number of 
ordinary 

shares 
shown in 

notice

%  
of voting 

rights held

Canaccord Genuity Group1/2 9,173,566 9.8%
Fianchetto Limited1 8,078,573 8.6%
Harwood Capital LLP1 7,015,000 7.5%
Caledonia Investments PLC1 6,428,820 6.8%
B J D Ashford-Russell1/2 5,450,000 5.8%
T J Woolley1 5,000,000 5.3%
Artemis Investment 
Management1/2 4,045,000 4.3%
J Salter1 2,809,325 3.0%

1. Direct holding.

2. Indirect holding.

In addition the Board is aware of the following interests in 
the ordinary shares of the Company of over 3.0%:

Aberdeen Standard Life 4.3%
Blackrock Investment Management 3.8%
Unicorn Asset Management 4.4%
J O Hambro Capital Management 3.3%

Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’)
The AGM will be held at 16 Palace Street, London SW1E 5JD 
at 2.30pm on Wednesday 25 July 2018. 

Full details of the resolutions and explanations of each 
resolution are given in the separate notice of meeting sent to 
shareholders.

Indemnity / Insurance
The Company on 20 June 2018 granted a Deed of Indemnity 
to each Director in respect of liabilities that may attach to 
them in their capacity as Directors of the Company. This 
Indemnity covers any liabilities that may arise to a third party 
for negligence, default or breach of trust or duty. This deed of 
indemnity is a qualifying third-party provision (as defined by 
section 234 of the Companies Act 2006) and was granted to 
each Director on 20 June 2018 so was not in force for the year 
under review but is in force at the date of approval of this report 
and will continue in force. A copy is available for inspection on 
the Company’s website and will be available at the AGM. 

The Group maintains Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance, 
which is reviewed annually to ensure that cover is held at an 
appropriate level.
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Principle 1
Establish a strategy and business model which 
promotes long-term value for shareholders

 • The strategic report set out on pages 1 to 21 described 
the business objectives and business model which when 
read with the Chief Executives' Report and the Finance 
Director's Reports describe the past years' achievements 
and the future prospects for the growth of the business. 

Principle 2
Seek to understand and meet shareholder needs  
and expectations

 • The Company welcomes dialogue with shareholders in 
order to achieve a mutual understanding of objectives. 
The Board has regular reports from the Executive 
Directors on shareholder visits and meetings which 
include meeting current and potential shareholders as part 
of road shows arranged by the Company’s brokers after 
the announcement of the annual and half year results 
plus ad hoc meetings as needed throughout the year. 
The Chairman meets shareholders without the Executive 
Directors present to permit direct feedback. 

 • The AGM also provides a forum for investors to meet the 
Directors, both formally and informally. The Chairmen of 
the Board’s Committees will usually be available to answer 
questions at the AGM of the Company.

 • A website (www.polarcapital.co.uk) is maintained for 
shareholders to access information about the Company. 
It also has regularly updated information regarding the 
Group’s funds, RNS announcements and shareholder 
reports, and contact information for communication with 
the Directors and Officers of the Company. 

Principle 3
Take into account wider stakeholder and social 
responsibilities and their implications for  
long-term success

 • The Board meets with senior executives and heads of 
departments on a regular basis and through the reporting 
structures receives information on key customer and 
supplier relationships. 

 • The Chief Compliance Officer reports to the Board on all 
regulatory matters and the NOMAD, annually, presents 
to the Directors on stock exchange regulatory matters 
and ensures that any regulatory concerns are raised with 
the Board.

Dear Shareholder

The Quoted Companies Alliance (QCA) published a new 
Corporate Governance Code in 2018 which updates and 
revises the old QCA code. As part of the revisions to the 
rules of the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) companies 
with their shares traded on AIM will be required to apply and 
report against a recognised corporate governance code from 
September 2018. 

The Board of Directors has always recognised the importance 
of good corporate governance and that best practice is 
adopted and applied. In the past the Company has followed 
the old QCA code and, where it has felt it appropriate, has also 
adopted certain principle requirements of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council. 

As a Company operating in the Financial Services sector the 
business of the Company is highly regulated and subject to 
scrutiny by the various regulators. This regulation and scrutiny 
brings in to sharp focus the responsibilities of the Directors to 
analyse and manage risk throughout the business and while 
we do not have an internal audit function the compliance 
department of the firm is central to its operations. 

The compliance monitoring program is embedded 
throughout the Company and provides the Executive 
Directors with information on the control and reporting of 
risks as well as breaches. This information is relayed to the 
Board for consideration and review. 

The Board has adopted the new QCA code and has reviewed 
the Corporate Governance disclosures set out below and 
believes that the Group complies with the principles and 
disclosure requirements of the new code in full.

The Board remains committed to continue to develop best 
practice throughout the business and will continue to lead 
the business by setting standards for behaviours expected 
by all staff in their actions within the business and in dealing 
with customers.

The following report describes how the Company has 
applied the ten principles of the QCA Corporate Governance 
Code of 2018 and the disclosures indicated by the code. 

Tom Bartlam 

22 June 2018

Corporate Governance Report
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ESG and CSR
 • The Board recognises that it should take account of the 

needs of society and the environment and maintain 
high ethical standards. It takes collective responsibility 
for Environmental Social and Governance (ESG) matters 
and Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) policy and has 
focused on: staff welfare; respecting the environment; 
and treating customers fairly. 

 • The extent to which individual principles have been 
formalised is appropriate to the size of the organisation 
and these are documented in both the staff handbook 
and the compliance manual. Appropriate steps have 
been taken in relation to the anti-bribery act and 
modern slavery act and a statement is available on 
the Company’s website. The Company also has a 
whistleblowing policy and has appointed Hugh Aldous 
as a whistleblower’s champion.

 • The Group is developing ESG matters and is looking 
to become a signatory to the UN Principles for 
Responsible Investing.

 • The Group has implemented processes to manage 
environmental risks so as to reduce, reuse and recycle, 
wherever possible, waste materials within its place 
of business.

Principle 4
Embed effective risk management, considering both 
opportunities and threats throughout the organisation

 • The Board through the work of the Audit Committee 
considers the identified and emerging risks inherent in the 
business model and the management of such risks within 
the internal control environment. The Board considers the 
strategic direction in conjunction with the executive and 
the strategic report identifies the key business risks. The 
Pillar III disclosure document available on the Company’s 
website also describes the risk control environment. 

 • The Company’s compliance team makes formal visits to 
third-party service providers on a regular basis to review 
the levels of service provided to the Company or to the 
Company's clients such as investors in the Company’s 
funds. Such visits supplement the day to day interaction 
with the third-party service providers and permits senior 
management to review the arrangements and risks 
inherent in outsourced services.

 • The Company’s sales and investor support teams keep in 
close contact with existing and potential investors in the 
Company’s funds.

Internal control
 • The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s 

system of internal control including financial operational 
compliance and risk management controls.

 • The Group’s fund management activity is primarily 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority of the 
United Kingdom (FCA), the Jersey Financial Services 
Commission (JFSC) and the Securities Exchange 
Commission of the USA (SEC) and the Board has adopted 
procedures and controls designed to ensure its obligations 
under UK and EU legislation, the FCA Rules and the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 as well as the 
SEC Rules and the Investment Advisors Act are met.

 • The Group’s system of internal control is designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives. It is recognised that such a system 
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

 • The Audit Committee report describes the internal control 
functions and Audit Committee, as part of its role, has 
reviewed and monitored the effectiveness of the internal 
controls for the year ended 31 March 2018 and concluded 
that there was a satisfactory process in place to identify 
and manage such risks.

Principle 5
Maintain the Board as a well-functioning balanced 
team led by the chair

Composition
 • The composition of the Board is described in the Report 

of the Directors. The individual biographies are listed on 
pages 22 and 23.

 • At the date of this report the Board comprises of two 
Executive Directors, Gavin Rochussen and John Mansell 
and 7 non-executive Directors. Gavin Rochussen joined 
the Company on 17 July 2017 as Chief Executive taking 
over the duties of Tim Woolley, who remained as  
a non-executive Director. 

 • The experience of each Director is detailed in their 
biographies and the Board is satisfied that there is the 
necessary mix of skills and personal qualities to deliver the 
strategy of the Company. 

Directors’ appointment
 • In accordance with the Articles of Association, all new 

Directors appointed by the Board are required to seek 
election by shareholders at the next general meeting 
of the Company following their appointment and all 
Directors are required to retire by rotation in line with  
the provisions of the Articles of Association.

 • Directors do not have the specific time commitments. 
Executive Directors are full time emplyees and Non-
Executive Directors are required to spend sufficient time 
to fully discharge their roles. 
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Corporate Governance Report continued

Principle 5 continued
Role and responsibilities
 • The Directors' general duties are set out under sections 

171-181 of the Companies Act 2006 and the Board 
has responsibility to promote the success and interests 
of the Company and as a whole is responsible for the 
Group’s success, its objectives and policies and the proper 
governance of the Group and Company. The Directors have 
regard to the interests of a wider group of stakeholders 
in the success of the longer term business and when 
exercising their judgement take such interests into account. 
The Board provides overall strategic direction to the 
executive management by monitoring the operating and 
financial results against plans and budgets; reviewing the 
performance of management; assessing the adequacy of 
risk management systems and monitoring their application. 
The Board defines the culture and sets the Company’s values 
and standards ensuring that the Company’s obligations to its 
shareholders and others are understood and met. 

 • Directors have the opportunity to engage with staff at 
informal gatherings as well as at more formal meetings 
throughout the year. 

 • The Board, as noted elsewhere, receive reports and 
feedback from other parts of the business on suppliers, 
shareholders and investors in the Group's funds. 

 • The role of the non-executive Directors is to challenge 
constructively, and contribute to, the development of 
strategy; to scrutinise the performance of management 
in meeting agreed goals and objectives, monitor their 
performance; and, through the various Committees, 
to satisfy themselves that financial information is 
accurate and that financial controls and systems of risk 
management are robust and defensible.

 • All Directors receive appropriate and timely information 
to ensure that they are properly briefed in advance of 
Board meetings and have unlimited access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretary and other senior 
management should further information be required. 
The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the 
Chairman and the Board on governance matters.

 • A procedure has been established for non-executive 
Directors to have access to independent professional advice 
at the Company’s expense where they judge it necessary to 
discharge their responsibilities as Directors. No such advice 
has been sought in the year to 31 March 2018.

Independence
 • In assessing the independence of non-executive Directors 

at the date of this report, the Board took account of 
their experience, character and judgment, and their 
dependence on, or relationships with the Group. In all 
cases the Board felt the Directors were independent in 
character and judgment, however guidance issued on 
independence generally used to assess independence, 
consider the holding of a previous executive position 
within the Group, or a material business relationship 
with the Group including shareholdings, to impair the 
perceived independence of the non-executive Director. 

In light of this the Board has decided that:

 – Brian Ashford-Russell and Tim Woolley should not  
be considered independent as they previously held 
executive positions with the Group as well as being 
sizeable shareholders. 

 – Jamie Cayzer-Colvin and George Bumeder, for the 
period he was in office, should not be considered to be 
independent due to the fact that their employers had 
sizeable shareholdings in the Group. 

 – Tom Bartlam, Hugh Aldous, Win Robbins and Michael 
Thomas are considered independent non-executive 
Directors and are free from any associations or 
relationships with the Group or its investment funds 
except for the fees they receive as Directors and any 
shares they may hold in the Company.

Conflicts of interests
 • The Companies Act 2006 (‘the Act’) imposes a duty 

on Directors to avoid a situation in which they have or 
could have a conflict of interest or possible conflict with 
the interests of the Company. Directors are required to 
disclose all actual and potential conflicts of interest to 
the Board as they arise for consideration and approval. 
The Board may impose restrictions or refuse to authorise 
such conflicts if they consider them to conflict with the 
interests of the Company. Only Directors not involved 
in the conflict or potential conflict participate in the 
authorisation process taking into account their duty to 
promote the Company’s success. 

 • Directors are reminded at each Board meeting of their 
obligations to notify any changes in their statement of 
conflicts and also to declare any benefits received from 
third parties in their capacity as a Director of the Company. 

 • Each new Director on appointment is required to declare 
any potential conflict situations.

 • The register of conflicts is formally reviewed annually and 
the Board has concluded that the process has operated 
effectively during the period and no Director has declared 
receipt of any benefits during the year in his capacity as a 
Director of the Company.

Principle 6
Ensure that between them the Directors have the 
necessary up to date experience, skills and capabilities

 • On appointment, new Directors are offered induction 
and training considered appropriate by the Board and 
subsequently as necessary. 

 • The Directors receive briefings at Board meetings on 
regulatory and other issues relevant to the Group and its 
business sector and may attend external courses to assist 
in their professional development.

 • The skills and experience of each Director is assessed as 
part of the annual appraisal process.

 • Regular compliance training is required of all Executive 
Directors and is offered to Non-Executive Directors.
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The following table sets out the Board and Committee meetings schedules and attendance.

31 March 2017 to 31 March 2018 Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
AGM

26 July 2017
EGM

31 May 2017

Number of Meetings 6 3 2 1 1

Tom Bartlam 6 3 2 1 1

Gavin Rochussen (from 17 July 2017) 5/5 2/2* 2* 1 –

John Mansell 6 3* 2* 1 1

Hugh Aldous 6 3 2* 1 1

Brian Ashford-Russell 6 n/a n/a 1 1

George Bumeder (until 26 July 2017) 1/1 1/1* n/a n/a –

Jamie Cayzer-Colvin 5 3 2 – 1

Win Robbins (from 22 June 2017) 6 3 2 1 –

Michael Thomas 6 3 2 – 1

Tim Woolley 6 1/1* n/a 1 –

Notes to table

1.  There were no Nomination Committee meetings held in the year under review. There were a number of Board Committee meetings held during the  
year to finalise and approve substantive work carried out in a Board meeting.

2.  Apologies were received from Jamie Cayzer-Colvin and Michael Thomas for the AGM as they were abroad on that date. Apologies were received from 
George Bumeder and Tim Woolley for the EGM as they were abroad on that date.

3.  Where an asterisk is shown that Director was invited to attend a Committee meeting although not a member of the Committee to make proposals  
or to advise on matters being discussed by the Committee.

Principle 7
Evaluate Board performance based on clear and 
relevant objectives, seeking continuous improvement

Board effectiveness
 • In 2017 the Chairman carried out an appraisal of the Board, 

the Committees and the individual Directors and included a 
review of the fees paid to non-executive Directors including 
the fee for the Chairman. The formal evaluation process 
takes place on an annual cycle and is supported by regular 
contact between the Chairman and the other Directors to 
allow any matters to be addressed in a timely way.

 • The evaluation process included a written questionnaire 
and confidential unattributable one-to-one interviews 
between the Chairman and each Director. The process 
also included the work of the Committees and the 
Directors serving on each Committee. 

 • The results of this process were reported to the Board 
which concluded that the Board continued to operate in 
a dynamic and constructive way with different viewpoints 
and knowledge being used to challenge and review the 
business of the Group. 

 • The appraisal of the Chairman was covered as part of 
the process and led separately by Brian Ashford-Russell 
seeking the views of the other Directors. The findings 

were reported to the Board in June 2017. It was agreed 
that the Chairman should identify and progress a 
succession plan for changes that will be needed for the 
Board over the next two to three years. 

 • The review of the fees paid to the non-executive Directors 
was reported to the Board and details are included in the 
Remuneration Committee’s Report.

Board meetings
 • The Board meets regularly and as required. It receives 

detailed papers in advance of their meetings and verbal 
reports at each meeting from the executive management 
covering the financial performance of the Group, updates 
on fund performance, business development, matters 
affecting the general trading conditions and operational 
issues, including risk and compliance. The Board also 
receives reports from Committee chairmen on matters 
which relate to the Committee’s responsibilities as well as 
reports and presentations from the heads of departments 
on matters affecting the Group. The Board receives ad 
hoc presentations from the fund managers on their 
investment processes and funds as well as third party 
advisors on regulatory and legal updates. 
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Principle 8
Promote a corporate culture that is based on ethical 
values and behaviours 

 • The Group’s success is largely dependent on recruiting, 
retaining, and developing the best financial services 
professionals. To achieve this the Group seeks to ensure 
that working conditions are of a high standard and 
has in place good and effective management and staff 
communications, with the ability for staff to engage in 
decisions. The Group also encourages participation in 
the success of the business through share options and 
has a range of benefits to support staff, including ill 
health protection and life cover. The Group is committed 
to equal opportunities and diversity in staff selection 
and opportunities for promotion, with appropriate 
consideration being given to applications for employment 
from disabled persons.

 • The Group aims to remunerate staff in line with market 
practice, to provide development opportunities and to 
encourage staff motivation and retention.

 • The Board’s policy on diversity is, as it has been in the 
past, to seek to appoint the best qualified person to a 
particular role regardless of gender or other diversity 
criteria and therefore it has not adopted any measurable 
objectives in relation thereto. 

 • The business as a whole is committed to creating an 
inclusive environment where staff can develop and 
contribute fully without discrimination on the basis of 
gender, sexual orientation, age, race, nationality, disability 
or political or religious beliefs.

Principle 9
Maintain governance structures and processes that  
are fit for purpose and support good decision-making 
by the Board

 • The posts of Chairman and Chief Executive are held by 
different Directors.

 • The Chairman’s primary role is through his leadership to 
ensure that the Board and individual Directors are able to 
operate efficiently by setting the agenda, style and tone 
of Board discussions to promote constructive debate and 
effective decision making. He also leads on succession 
planning for the Board and certain senior executive positions. 

 • Gavin Rochussen, following his appointment in 
July 2017 as Chief Executive, has led the executive 
management team which meets regularly and is primarily 
responsible for the implementation of the Board’s 
policies and strategies, effective communication with 
shareholders, ensuring that all Board members develop an 
understanding of the views of investors and for managing 
the activities of the Group other than in relation to those 
matters specifically reserved to the Board or delegated to 
its Committees. Tim Woolley was Chief Executive and led 
the management team until Gavin’s appointment.

 • The Board has a formal agenda of items for consideration 
at each scheduled meeting but it will also meet at 
additional times when required. 

 • The Board has established guidelines requiring specific 
matters to be decided by the full Board of Directors. 
These include the appointment and removal of 
Directors, terms of reference for Board Committees and 
membership thereof; approval of strategy including 
material acquisitions and disposals, annual financial 
budgets, investments and capital projects. Matters that 
are reserved for the Board are generally forwarded to the 
Board for consideration with a recommendation from the 
executive management or appropriate Committee.

Principle 10
Communicate how the Company is governed and 
is performing by maintaining a dialogue with 
shareholders and other relevant stakeholders 

Board Committees
 • To assist in running the Group a number of Board 

Committees have been established to provide concise 
information and for taking proposals to the Board, carrying 
out the necessary work required for the business to operate 
effectively and efficiently, and to comply with all the 
regulatory requirements. The Board has delegated certain 
specific areas of responsibility to each of the Committees. 
The Board sees minutes of all Committee meetings and the 
chairman of the Committee reports to the Board on any 
significant matters. The Board also receives copies of all 
minutes from subsidiary companies for information.

Allotment Committee 

Any two Directors

Audit Committee

Hugh Aldous (Chairman)

Tom Bartlam

Jamie Cayzer-Colvin

Win Robbins

Michael Thomas

Nomination Committee 1

Tom Bartlam (Chairman)

Hugh Aldous

Jamie Cayzer-Colvin

Win Robbins

Michael Thomas

Remuneration Committee 1

Michael Thomas (Chairman)

Tom Bartlam

Jamie Cayzer-Colvin

Win Robbins

1.  George Bumeder was a member of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees until his resignation on 26 July 2017.
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 • In addition to the above standing formal Board 
Committees there are a number of management 
Committees which have been created to address specific 
areas of the Group’s business activities. Details of these 
Committees and their functions can be found on the 
Company’s website in the corporate document section 
– Corporate Governance & Board Committees (www.
polarcapital.co.uk).

Allotment Committee
 • This Committee is used to allot and issue shares arising 

from the exercise of Board approved share awards or shares 
arising from previously Board approved crystallisations of 
fund manager preference share arrangements.

Audit Committee
 • The Audit Committee formally meets at least three 

times a year. Only Committee members are entitled to 
attend meetings, however the Committee invites other 
Directors and executives including the Chief Executive, 
the Finance Director and Chief Operating Officer, the 
Head of Finance, the Head of Compliance and the Chief 
Risk Officer to attend for all or part of the meetings. 
The external auditor of the Company will attend the 
meetings on a regular basis and will have unrestricted 
access to the Committee and its Chairman.

 • The Audit Committee has agreed terms of reference and 
assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities for 
corporate governance, risk management, financial control 
and internal controls by reviewing and monitoring risk and 
internal controls throughout the business.

 • The Audit Committee also considers and reports on the 
financial statements, going concern and is responsible for 
the appointment, replacement and work of the auditor. 

The work of the Audit Committee is set out on pages 32  
to 34.

Remuneration Committee
 • The Remuneration Committee has general oversight of all 

remuneration arrangements for Executive Directors and 
senior managers and it considers all material elements 
of remuneration policy, remuneration and incentives 
with reference to independent remuneration research 
and professional advice. Recommendations are made to 
the Board on the framework for executive remuneration 
including the design and implementation of equity based 
incentive schemes.

The work of the Remuneration Committee and the Directors’ 
remuneration are set out on pages 35 to 42.

Nomination Committee
 • The Nomination Committee is responsible for all aspects 

of the appointment of Directors, succession planning 
and appointments to the Board, considering and 
recommending the reappointment of retiring Directors 
of the Company together with evaluating of Directors’ 
performance and effectiveness.

The Nomination committee did not sit during the period 
under review. 

Approved by the Board on 22 June 2018 and signed by order 
of the Board.

Neil Taylor
Company Secretary
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Dear Shareholder

I have pleasure in presenting the Audit Committee's Report 
for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The constitution and composition of the Audit Committee is 
given on page 30. 

Tom Bartlam is a member of the Committee not only due 
to his experience but also to enable him to be kept fully 
informed of any issues as they arise. 

The Board is satisfied that the Committee has sufficient 
recent and relevant financial experience in the sector in 
which the Company operates to discharge its function 
effectively. The experience of the members of the Committee 
can be assessed from the Director’s biographies set out on 
pages 22 and 23.

During the year the Committee met three times, with all 
members attending each meeting, and considered the 
following issues:

 • the appropriateness and any changes to the accounting 
policies of the Group including any judgements required 
by such policies and the reasonableness of such;

 • the scope of the annual audit and agreement with the 
external auditor of the key areas of focus;

 • the reports from the external auditors concerning their 
audit of the annual financial statements of the Group;

 • the report from the external auditors concerning their 
review of the description and suitability of the Group’s 
internal controls in accordance with ISAE 3402;

 • the financial disclosures contained in the annual and 
interim reports to shareholders;

 • reports from management and the auditor on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal financial 
control including the Risk Map and ICAAP requirements;

 • the independence and objectivity of the external auditor 
and the level and nature of non-audit services provided  
by them;

 • the performance of the external auditors and the level of 
fees charged for their services;

 • the policy for non-audit services which may be provided 
by the auditor; and

 • a presentation from the executive management on 
the ability of the Group to continue operations for the 
foreseeable future and allow the Board to form an 
opinion on Going Concern.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee met separately 
and privately with the Chief Operating Officer, the Chief 
Compliance Officer and the Heads of Finance, Operations, 
I.T. and Sales and Marketing during the year. 

The Audit Committee provided recommendations to the 
Board as appropriate on these matters.

Efficacy of Audit Process
The effectiveness of the auditor is monitored by the 
Committee and the COO throughout the year focused on 
quality of staff, planning of work and quality of reporting. 
The Committee reviews any changes in the terms of the 
Auditors appointment and considers among other matters 
their performance, qualification, knowledge, expertise and 
resources including any reviews of the Financial Reporting 
Council’s Quality Review Report for Ernst and Young LLP. 

Audit independence was also considered along with 
other factors such as audit planning and accounting 
standards interpretations. This evaluation has been carried 
out throughout the year by meetings held with the 
auditor, review of the audit process and comments from 
management and others involved in the audit process.

The auditor is provided with an opportunity to address the 
Committee without the executive management present to 
raise any concerns or discuss any matters relating to the audit 
work and the cooperation of the management in providing 
any information and the quality of that information including 
the timeliness in responding to audit requests.

Consideration of the Annual Report  
and Financial Statements
The Committee performed its role through monitoring the 
integrity of the financial statements of the Group and the 
system of accounting to ensure compliance with relevant and 
appropriate accounting standards. The scope of the audit 
was agreed in advance with a focus on areas of audit risk 
and the appropriate level of audit materiality. The auditor 
reported on the results of the audit work to the Committee 
and highlighted any issue which the audit work had 
discovered, or the Committee had previously identified as 
significant or material, in context of the financial statements.

Consideration of the Semi-annual Report  
and Financial Statements
The Committee considered and reviewed the semi-
annual report and financial statements which were not 
audited or reviewed by the external auditor to ensure 
consistency with the accounting policies used in the annual 
financial statements.

Internal Audit
The Company does not have an internal audit function 
and the Audit Committee has considered where there is a 
need for one. The size of the Company and the extensive 
compliance monitoring and the internal control environment 
has led the Committee to conclude that an internal 
audit function is not presently required but this will be 
reviewed annually. 
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Non-audit Work
A policy has been established to safeguard the independence 
and objectivity of the Group’s external auditor. The policy 
provides that certain non-audit services are not permitted 
under any circumstances and that the Committee will be 
required to consider and pre-approve any material non-audit 
services before the external auditor is engaged.

During the year the Committee reviewed its policy for non-
audit services supplied by the Group’s auditor and gave 
approval to permitted non-audit services amounting to less 
than £25,000 in aggregate in any year to be preapproved 
subject to reporting retrospectively to the Committee to 
ensure a complete review of all non-audit services and the 
independence of the auditor.

The Committee reviewed all the non-audit activities provided 
during the year by the auditor to ensure that none of these 
services would put the auditor in the position of auditing 
their own work, or affect its independence and to satisfy 
itself that these services are provided within the policy and 
have been delivered in an efficient and cost effective way. 

The Audit Committee believes the objectivity and 
independence of the auditor is maintained, notwithstanding 
that non-audit work may be undertaken.

Overview of Risk
The Committee has responsibility to assist the Board in 
maintaining an effective internal control environment and 
to that end examines and receives reports on the Group’s 
regulatory capital adequacy requirements, compliance, and 
control procedures and systems for managing risks arising 
from the operation of the business, its financial position 
or the regulatory environment which governs it. As with 
any internal control system, it is designed to manage and 
minimise risk rather than eliminate the risks inherent in the 
business and can provide no assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

Risk is managed throughout the business and the Group 
has established a Risk Map which seeks to identify, quantify, 
measure and mitigate as far as possible those risks through a 
Risk Monitoring Programme (RMP).

The Chief Compliance Officer (CCO) manages the overall 
RMP and risk maps of all business areas. The RMP sets the 
framework under which risks are managed and controlled 
in adherence with the risk strategy outlined by the Board. 
To capture all risks to the Group, four business areas (Fund 
Management, Sales & Marketing, Overseas Offices and 

Infrastructure) are assessed against eight macro control 
objectives The CCO reports the outcome of the RMP to 
the Group’s Audit Committee as part of the ICAAP. The 
Chairman of the Committee, plus other members if they 
wish, attend a day with the CCO and the department heads 
to discuss existing and, developing risks and challenges, to 
the business.

The Chief Risk Officer monitors risk and chairs the Internal 
Investment Risk Committee which sits on a monthly 
basis to review individual fund and group level risks and 
ensures that fund managers do not exceed the risk and 
investment parameters.

The Chief Operating Officer (COO) has responsibility for 
operational risk. Risks are identified, assessed and monitored. 
The COO chairs the Operational Risk Committee which sits 
at least monthly.

Appointment of Auditor and Tenure
The Committee also considers by way of meetings and 
reports, the appointment, remuneration and work of 
the auditor.

Ernst & Young LLP have provided audit services to the Group 
since 2002 and these have continued through the period 
from its initial public offering in February 2007 to date. 
The Committee has considered the need for the rotation 
of the audit firm and is satisfied with the performance of 
the auditor and does not consider it necessary to put the 
external audit out to tender. The audit partner changes every 
five years in accordance with professional guidance. Mr 
Amarjit Singh is the current audit partner and was appointed 
in 2016.

There are no contractual obligations restricting the choice of 
external auditors.

The Committee having considered the above factors consider 
it appropriate to recommend to the Board and shareholders 
that Ernst & Young LLP be reappointed as auditors at 
the AGM.

Ernst & Young LLP have agreed to offer themselves for 
reappointment as auditors of the Group in accordance with 
section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006 and a resolution 
requesting approval of their reappointment and to authorise 
the Directors to determine their remuneration will be 
presented at the AGM.
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Significant Issues in Relation to the  
Financial Statements
During the year the Committee considered key accounting 
issues, matters and judgements in relation to the Group’s 
financial statements and disclosures relating to:

Consolidation of seed capital investments
IFRS 10 requires the Group to consolidate entities over 
which it has control. The key areas of judgment required in 
determining whether the Group controls an entity include:

 • power over the investee;

 • exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and

 • the ability to use its power over the investee to 
affect returns.

Where the Group has seeded funds that it manages, owns a 
significant proportion of the funds and the Group concludes 
it is acting as principal, rather than an agent on behalf of 
third-party investors, the fund is consolidated.

The accounting treatment for seed capital investments is  
set out in note 4.3.

Share-based payments
Determining the accounting charge for share-based payment 
transactions requires the selection of an appropriate 
valuation model, consideration of appropriate input criteria 
for the model and an estimate as to the number of awards 
that are likely to vest.

The accounting treatment for share-based payment 
transactions is set out in note 3.6.

Deferred tax
Determining the deferred tax charge requires various 
estimates to be made around whether temporary differences 
will reverse in future periods and whether there will be 
sufficient taxable profits available in future to enable the 
recovery of deferred tax assets.

The accounting treatment for deferred tax is set out in notes 
3.7 and 4.2.

Revenue and rebates
Revenue is the most significant line item in the Group's 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss. Revenue 
recognition may involve calculations that are complex, as in 
the case of performance fees, or need to take into account 
bespoke rebate agreements. 

The accounting treatment for revenue and rebates, or 
commissions and fees payable, is set out in note 3.1. 

Following these discussions and its review of the treatments 
applied and associated financial statement disclosures, 
the Committee was satisfied that these matters had been 
appropriately addressed.

Conclusions in Respect of the Annual Report  
and Financial Statements
The production and the audit of the Group’s Annual Report 
and Financial Statements is a comprehensive process 
requiring input from a number of different contributors. 

The Audit Committee supports the Board by considering 
and forming an opinion to assist the Board in reaching 
conclusions that the Annual Report is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that the adoption of a going concern 
basis is appropriate.

In performing this work the Committee has given 
consideration to the following:

 • the comprehensive control framework over the production 
of the Annual Report, including the verification processes 
in place to deal with the factual content;

 • the market outlook for the Company as described in the 
Chief Executive’s Report and considered in the light of 
other internal reports and financial projections that the 
statements contained in the annual report fairly reflected 
the results for the year; 

 • the extensive levels of review undertaken in the 
production process, by the management and the 
Committee;

 • a clean ISAE 3402 report confirming the effectiveness  
of internal control; and

 • a going concern report from management on the 
Group’s assessment of liquidity and timing of cashflows, 
contingent liabilities and a summary of forecasts and 
budgets for the year ahead. 

As a result of the work performed, the Committee has 
concluded that the Annual Report for the year ended 
31 March 2018, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, business 
model and strategy, and has reported on these findings 
to the Board. The Committee also recommends that the 
adoption of the going concern basis for the preparation  
of the annual financial statements is appropriate.

Hugh Aldous
Chairman of Audit Committee 

22 June 2018
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Remuneration Committee Report

Dear Shareholder

I have pleasure in presenting the Remuneration Committee's 
Report for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The constitution and composition of the Remuneration 
Committee is given on page 30.

The Company is not subject to the large and Medium Sized 
Companies and Group (Accounts and Reports) (amendment) 
Regulations 2013 as it is not a Company which is listed on 
a regulated market. Although the Company does not have 
to prepare a Policy Report or Implementation Report the 
Committee wishes to ensure that shareholders have a clear 
understanding of the remuneration paid by the Company 
and how the Committee has discharged it obligations. 

The Board decided to submit an Implementation Report 
for an advisory vote for the first time at last years' AGM. A 
similar report will be submitted again at this years‘ AGM as a 
mechanism for shareholders to indicate their views on these 
arrangements. The Company values shareholder's views and 
welcomes their feedback.

The votes cast at the AGM held on 26 July 2017 on the 
resolution on Directors' pay were as follows:

Number %

Votes in favour 55,557,668 98.0

Votes against 1,166,530 2.0

Total votes cast 56,724,198 100.0

Votes withheld – –

Set out below are the key principles of our remuneration 
strategy. 

Remuneration Committee Activities  
During the Year
The Remuneration Committee's remit extends beyond the 
Executive Board to capture remuneration across the Group.

The Remuneration Committee met twice over the past year 
and discussed the following:

 • An internal review of the remuneration policies and 
incentive arrangements across the group.

 – This review covered the arrangements for fund 
managers and their teams, Executive Directors and 
senior management, and central staff including 
sales teams. The review looked at the operation and 
principles of basic and variable pay, short-term cash 
bonuses and longer term equity awards and fund 
manager incentives and retention arrangements, and 
the application of deferment across the Group.

 • Bonus and LTIP awards for the financial year to the 
Executive Directors and Senior Management;

 – The Committee considered the arrangements for 
the Executive Directors in terms of achievement of 

conditions for a short-term award and participation in 
the LTIP equity awards which are explained in greater 
detail below. The Committee also established the key 
performance ratio for Executive Directors and members 
of the executive management variable pay for 2019 
and future years. Details are given on page 41. 

 • Recommendations from the executive management  
for remuneration packages for existing and new  
fund managers;

 – Over the course of the year members of the 
Committee were consulted and agreed on various 
offers to potential fund managers and teams as well  
as a number of senior appointments.

 • The recommended salary levels for 2019 and bonus 
payments for 2017/18 across the Group; and

 – The Committee agreed the framework for salary 
reviews that could be implemented across the Group 
and agreed the Executive Directors recommendations 
for discretionary bonus awards to staff.

 • Reviewed and agreed levels and arrangements for 
deferment of variable remuneration.

 – The Committee agreed that deferment of variable 
remuneration should commence at £100,000 in 
respect of the financial year ended 2019 and that 
the levels of deferment should be 40 or 60 percent 
depending on the level of variable pay prior to 
deferment.

Executive Director Remuneration Payable for the 
Year Under Review
When setting Executive Director remuneration, the Committee 
considers a range of factors including strategic goals, the 
Group’s overall success as well as personal performance.  

Salaries
The Committee considered the basic salary paid to the 
Executive Directors and took into account the levels of 
remuneration agreed for other key senior executive  
positions and for members of the executive Committee.  
The Committee concluded that there should be no change 
for Gavin Rochussen but that John Mansell whose salary  
has not increased since 2015 should increase to £275,000 
from 1 April 2018 to reflect his development in his role.

Variable remuneration awards
As described in the previous remuneration report an 
executive variable pay pool had been established in which 
the Executive Directors would participate. The Committee at 
their meeting in March 2018 considered the allocation of the 
executive variable pay pool by achievement of performance-
based long-term incentives for the Executive Directors. The 
Committee considered the targets established by the Board 
and progress against each. 
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Remuneration Committee Report continued

When the Committee is considering Executive Directors' performance it uses a mix of strategic, business and personal 
achievement criteria. 

Results of Committee work
The Committee concluded that the Executive Directors had overall achieved an outstanding year for the Company. They 
had achieved the strategic objectives, exceeded expectations on the group results and had each delivered on their personal 
performance targets. 

 • Overall the Committee decided to award the maximum short-term bonus of twice basic salary for the annual bonus. 

 • In reviewing the long-term incentive plan the Committee considered that while the an outstanding year had been 
achieved which was reflected in the short-term awards a slightly lower award should be given for the LTIP award as  
there was still work to be done in fulfilling the strategic objectives. 

Approach to Remuneration in 2018/19
The Remuneration Committee will keep the Executive Directors and staff remuneration under review to take account of any 
changes in the Company’s business environment and remuneration practice generally. The overall aim will be to ensure that 
the Company’s remuneration arrangements continue to support the Company’s strategy and deliver long-term shareholder 
value by attracting and retaining talent and rewarding executives appropriately in light of the Company performance.

The Committee believes that the remuneration approach will both support and motivate the executive team whilst aligning 
them both to the Company’s strategic objectives and to achieving long-term growth for our shareholders.

Michael Thomas
Chairman of Remuneration Committee 

22 June 2018
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy Summary
The Directors' remuneration is considered as part of the overall aim of our remuneration strategy which is to provide 
appropriate incentives that reflect the Group’s high performance culture and values. In summary, we aim to:

 • attract, retain and motivate high calibre, high performing directors and employees; and

 • encourage strong performance and engagement, both in the short and the long-term, to enable the Group to achieve 
its strategic objectives.

The Directors' total remuneration package is structured so that a significant proportion is linked to performance conditions 
measured over both the short-term and longer-term.

When setting the levels of short-term and long-term variable remuneration and the balance of equity and cash within the 
package, consideration is given to obtaining the appropriate balance so as not to encourage unnecessary risk-taking, whilst 
ensuring that performance hurdles are suitably challenging.

The table below summarises the key aspects of the Group’s remuneration structure and policy:

Directors' Remuneration

Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation

Fixed pay

Base Salary To attract and retain executives 
of a suitable calibre for the 
duties required by being market 
competitive.

Normally reviewed annually by the Committee, with increases 
taking effect from April, taking account of Company performance, 
individual performance, changes in responsibility and levels of 
increase for the broader staff population.

The Committee considers the impact of any basic salary increase on 
the total remuneration package.

Benefits To provide market competitive 
benefits.

The Company typically provides the following:

 • Private medical cover

 • Life Insurance

 • Income protection scheme to cover long-term illness. 

Pension To provide market competitive 
benefits.

Defined contribution or cash in lieu of pension equal to 10%  
of base salary.

Variable pay

Annual Bonus 
and Deferred 
Remuneration 
Plan (DRP)

To drive and reward 
performance against annual 
objectives which are consistent 
with the strategy and aligns to 
shareholder interests.

The DRP provides a deferral 
element to variable compensation 
above a certain level to ensure 
there is a link to the longer-term 
performance of the Company.

An executive variable pay pool is formed based on 12% of  
the pre- tax and executive variable compensation profits. Members 
of the Executive Committee, which includes the Executive Directors, 
participate in the pay pool. The Committee determines an 
individual’s allocation of the variable compensation pool.

For members of the Executive Committee, of this allocation, up to 
200% of salary may be earned as annual bonus with the balance 
delivered as an award under the LTIP. The actual bonus paid is 
dependent on the overall success of the Company (financial and 
non-financial) and personal contribution.

No less than 60% of the bonus amount is delivered in the form of  
a deferred bonus award. Awards under the deferred bonus award 
take the form of shares or nil cost options over Polar Capital 
Holdings plc shares.
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Remuneration Committee Report continued

Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation

Variable pay continued

Long-term 
incentives  
(‘LTIP’)

To encourage and reward delivery 
of the Company’s long-term 
strategic objectives and provide 
alignment with shareholders.

The remaining balance of the Executive Committee members' share 
of the variable pay pool (less the potential to earn 200% of salary in 
annual bonus) will be granted in the form of LTIP awards. The LTIP 
awards are structured as nil cost options and will vest after 3 years 
subject to performance and continued employment (subject to good 
leaver provisions).

These awards are subject to Malus and Clawback under certain 
circumstances.

Vesting of LTIP awards is determined by reference to performance 
assessed over a period of at least three years, typically based on EPS 
growth targets.

Prior to each grant, the Committee may determine that alternative 
measures apply as long as they are aligned with the Company’s 
strategic objectives and long-term shareholder value.

Fee paid in cash To attract and retain a high-calibre 
Chairman and Non- Executive 
Directors by offering a market 
competitive fee level.

The Chairman is paid a single fee for all his responsibilities. The Non-
Executives are paid a basic fee assessed on their contribution, links to 
substantial investors and level of responsibilities.

The level of these fees is reviewed periodically by the Committee and 
Chief Executive for the Chairman and by the Chairman and Chief 
Executive for the Non-Executive Directors, with reference to market 
levels and a recommendation is then made to the Board.

The Committee in reviewing these fees considers the extra work 
undertaken by the Chairmen of the Board Committees and may pay 
an additional fee to reflect these responsibilities if felt appropriate.

Service Contracts & Payments for Loss of Office
The Remuneration Committee reviews the contractual terms for new Executive Directors to ensure that these reflect  
best practice. 

Service contracts normally continue until the Director’s agreed retirement date or such other date as the parties agree.  
The service contracts contain provision for early termination. Notice periods given by the employing Company are limited  
to 12 months or less.

A Director’s service contract may be terminated without notice and without any further payment or compensation, except for 
sums accrued up to the date of termination, on the occurrence of certain events such as gross misconduct. If the employing 
Company terminates the employment of an Executive Director in other circumstances, compensation is limited to salary due 
for any unexpired notice period and any amount assessed by the Remuneration Committee as representing the value of other 
contractual benefits (including pension) which would have been received during the period. Payments in lieu of notice are not 
pensionable. In the event of a change of control of the Company there is no enhancement to contractual terms.
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The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment, setting out the terms and conditions of their appointment and their 
expected time commitment. It is the Company’s policy that Non-Executive Directors should be appointed for an initial period 
of three years (from the next general meeting following their initial appointment in the case of new Non-Executive Directors) 
and that they may be re-appointed for further terms of three years each. Re-appointment at the end of such periods should 
not be considered automatic and each Director’s contribution will be carefully assessed. The letters of appointment provide for 
termination of the Director’s appointment under certain circumstances and in all cases without any compensation.

None of the Non-Executive Directors have any ongoing direct financial or contractual interests in the Company other than 
their fees and shareholdings as disclosed in this report.

Details of the idemnities granted by the Company to each Director are given on page 25.

Remuneration Implementation Report
The table below sets out the remuneration received by the Directors for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 and for 
comparison amounts received in the financial year ended 31 March 2017.

Salary  
& fees

Cash  
Bonus 3,4

Long Term 
Incentive

Taxable  
benefits

Pension/ 
payment in lieu 

of pension
Total 

remuneration

2018
£000

2017
£000

2018
£000

2017
£000

2018
£000

2017
£000

2018
£000

2017
£000

2018
£000

2017
£000

2018
£000

2017
£000

Executive Directors

Tim Woolley  
until 17 July 2017 100 350 210 175 – – 1 1 10 35 321 561

Gavin Rochussen 1 
from 17 July 2017 250 – 647 – – – 2 – 25 – 924 –

John Mansell 250 250 500 150 – – 2 3 25 25 777 428

Non-Executive  
Directors

Tom Bartlam 100 80 – – – – – – – – 100 80

Hugh Aldous 45 40 – – – – – – – – 45 40

Brian Ashford-Russell 55 55 – – – – 2 3 – – 57 58

Tim Woolley from  
18 July 2017 28 – – – – – – – – – 28 –

Jamie Cayzer-Colvin 2 20 20 – – – – – – – – 20 20

George Bumeder 2 
until 26 July 2017 5 20 – – – – – – – – 5 20

Win Robbins  
from 22 June 2017 31 – – – – – – – – – 31 –

Michael Thomas 45 40 – – – – – – – – 45 40

Total 929 855 1,357 325 – – 7 7 60 60 2,353 1,247

Notes:

1. Gavin Rochussen's remuneration reflects the period of approximately 8½ months worked during the year. 

2  Under the terms of their appointment the Director’s fees may be paid to their principal employers if so elected or to their designee. The fee for Jamie 
Cayzer-Colvin was paid to Caledonia Investments plc and the fee for George Bumeder, for the period he served as a Director, was paid to XL Group Ltd.

3 The short-term incentive is awarded as an annual cash bonus with deferment in accordance with the remuneration policy.

4  Included in the 2018 figure for Gavin Rochussen is a payment in lieu of dividends, of £157,000, on initial shares awarded  
(see page 40 – deferred interest).

Share options in the financial year ended 31 March 2018
No further share options issued to Executive Directors vested in the financial year ended 31 March 2018. Details of any share 
option exercises are provided on the following page.

Payments to Past Directors
No payments were made to any past Directors during the year to 31 March 2018.
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Variable pay for the Year Ended 31 March 2018
The Committee considered the Executive Directors' 
performance against the under noted objectives and 
concluded that for the year ended 31 March 2018 excellent 
performance was delivered.

Strategic objectives:
 • The closure of subscale and underperforming investment 

strategies;

 – Four funds closed and one initiative terminated.

 • Develop an understanding of distribution opportunities 
particularly in the USA and Asian markets;

 – On going with research on distribution opportunities 
being pursued.

 • Find new investment teams to meet identified weaknesses 
and gaps in the product range;

 – New GEM team identified and contracts signed with 
fund launches scheduled for the summer.

 • Strengthen management team to formailse investment 
oversight functions and enhance institutional rigour;

 – Structure of oversight function agreed internally and 
agreed with investment teams. Investment Director 
identified, and contract signed.

 • The smooth transition to new CEO;

 – Arrival of new CEO well received internally by staff 
and positive support from external investors and 
shareholders.

Success of the Group:
 • To meet or exceed budgeted forecast set at beginning of 

the financial year;

 – The net inflows were twice budget, the AUM  
growth was +30% and the core profit growth was 
double the budget. Earnings per share were up by 
79% and revenue margin and core profit margin  
were maintained.

 – The total shareholder return exceeds the agreed peer 
group of asset managers (Ashmore Group PLC, Impax 
Asset Management Group PLC, Schroders PLC, River 
and Mercantile Group PLC, Jupiter Fund Management 
PLC, Liontrust Asset Management PLC, Miton Group 
PLC and Premier Asset Management Group PLC). 

Personal Performance:
 • The executive functions of the CEO and COO were 

reviewed against objectives established and agreed by  
the Remuneration Committee which included:

 – Maintaining and developing the culture and ethos  
of the business.

 – Engagement with shareholders and new investors to 
articulate and seek support for the group strategies.

 – Maintaining and enhancing the Polar Capital Brand 
with media.

 – Delivery of investment support at an 'excellent'  
level to teams.

 – Ensuring a stable management of department  
heads and team leaders to lead the delivery of  
the excellent services.

 – Management and attainment of budget.

 – Risk, legal and Compliance functions are effective and 
provide safeguards and mitigation against risks. 

Annual Bonus Awards for the year ended  
31 March 2018
The Committee awarded the Executive Directors the maximum 
annual bonus award of 200 per cent of basic salary.

 • Tim Woolley received a bonus of £210,000 in respect 
of the financial year ended 31 March 2018 being time 
weighted for the period from 31 March 2017 to 17 July 
2017 when he resigned as Chief Executive. 

 • Gavin Rochussen received a bonus of £490,000 in respect 
of the financial year ended 31 March 2018 being time 
weighted for the period from 17 July 2017, when he 
became Chief Executive, to 31 March 2018. 

 • John Mansell received a bonus of £500,000 in respect of 
the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

In accordance with the deferment arrangements 60% of 
the annual bonuses awarded to Gavin Rochussen and John 
Mansell were deferred, after the payment of tax, in to the 
shares of the Company which, subject to bad leaver forfeiture 
provisions, will be released to the respective Directors as to 
one third each year for the next three years. As the bonuses 
are cash awards tax is deducted at the time of payment and 
therefore the deferment is of the net amount.

 • Gavin Rochussen has deferred £155,820 into 28,956 
shares of Polar Capital Holdings; 

 • John Mansell has deferred £159,000 in to 29,544 shares 
of Polar Capital Holdings; and

 • It was decided not to apply any deferment to the award 
to Tim Woolley as he no longer holds an executive 
position and is already a very substantial shareholder 
from the founding of the business and consequently has 
considerable alignment with shareholder interests. 

 • Executive directors are entitled to revieve dividends on 
their deferred shares. 

LTIP Awards Granted for the Year Ended 31 March 2018
The Committee decided to make LTIP awards based on the 
Committee’s appraisal of the satisfactory achievement of 
performance conditions as follows:

 • an award to Gavin Rochussen of £1,600,000 being time 
weighted to reflect his service for part of the year only 
and; 

 • an award to John Mansell of £900,000.

Remuneration Committee Report continued
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The LTIP awards will be made as nil cost options following the release of the Group’s results for the financial year ended 31 
March 2018. These awards will vest in three years time and can be exercised as to one third each year thereafter in full if the 
EPS of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 is equal to or exceeds 49.8p per share and as to 50% if the EPS is 35.7p 
per share.

The Committee also reviewed the conditions for future bonus awards and LTIP awards for the Executive Committee and 
determined the following would apply.

CEO COO
Sales  

Director
Investment 

Director

1.  Achieving Core Operating Profit Budget (pro rata if budget 
not met and adjusted for markets) 50% 50% 25% 25%

2.  Achieving Net Inflow targets (This will be refined further to 
include channel and client diversification targets) 25%

3.  Maintaining 3-year top quartile peer group performance for 
at least 75% of AuM (This will be refined further) 25%

4.  Meeting specific short-term strategic objectives to be 
agreed annually 25% 25% 25% 25%

5. Discretionary 25% 25% 25% 25%

Total cost of bonus and LTIP awards 100% 100% 100% 100%

Specific annual objectives will be set (item 4) by the CEO for each member of the Executive Committee and with the 
Chairman of the Board in respect of his objectives.

Directors’ Interests in the Shares and Options of the Company
Share Options
Options to acquire ordinary shares held by the Directors and changes there to during the year ended 31 March 2018 and 
up to 22 June 2018 are described below. The Executive Directors also have interests in the shares of the Company by their 
participation in the LTIP arrangements and the deferment applied to short-term bonuses. Details of these interests are set 
out under the relevant sections.

EIP Share 
Option  

Awards 
Grant date

At  
1 April  

2017

Granted 
in the 

year

Exercised 
in the 

year
Lapsed in 

the year

At 31 
March 

2018

Earliest 
exercise 

date

Latest
exercise 

date

Market 
value of 

shares 
at grant
price (£)

Exercise 
price 

(£)

Tim 
Woolley

20/12/2010 1,000,000 – 1,000,000 – Nil 145.0p 145.0p

27/06/2011 600,000 – 600,000 – Nil 191.7p 191.7p

04/07/2013 500,000 – – 500,000 Nil 388.0p 388.0p

Total – 1,600,000 500,000 Nil

John 
Mansell

22/01/2010 500,000 – – – 500,000 31/03/2014 31/03/2020 91.5p 91.5p

26/07/2011 350,000 – – – 350,000 26/07/2015 26/07/2021 197.5p 197.5p

04/07/2013 350,000 – – – 350,000 04/07/2017 04/07/2023 388.0p 388.0p

Total 1,200,000 – – – 1,200,000

For the year ended 31 March 2018 the taxable income on options exercised was £4.8m (2017: nil).

Conditions of Option awards
The options held by John Mansell are subject to the requirement that in order to exercise the option he must be employed 
by, or be an officer of, the Company on the relevant vesting date subject to certain defined ‘good leaver’ situations. 

The options have been issued in accordance with the rules of the Polar Capital Equity Incentive Plan, by the use of the provisions 
relating to Equity Settled Share Appreciation Rights (‘ESARS’). The use of the ESARS provisions allows the Company to issue to the 
option holder only the number of shares that would equate to the number of shares over which the option becomes exercisable 
less the number of shares that would have needed to be sold to fund the purchase of that number of shares on the exercise date.

No other Directors held share options during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: nil).
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Shares
The interests of Directors in the shares of the Company at the end of the financial year were as follows:

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

T H Bartlam 100,000 50,000

H G C Aldous 70,000 60,000

B J D Ashford-Russell 

beneficial 5,200,000 5,690,000

non beneficial 250,000 250,000

J M B Cayzer-Colvin 4,250 4,250

J B Mansell1

beneficial 1,712,000 1,712,000

non beneficial 160,000 160,000

W Robbins (appointed 22 June 2017) 10,000 –*

G Rochussen2 (appointed 17 July 2017)

beneficial 1,000,000 1,000,000*

deferred interest 3 802,267 –*

M Thomas 4,000 4,000

T J Woolley 5,000,000 5,500,000

* Date of appointment 

1.  Since the year end John Mansell has increased his interest in the ordinary shares of the Company by 29,544 ordinary shares as part of the deferred 
remuneration award in respect of the year ended 31 Match 2018.

2.  On appointment Gavin Rochussen was granted on 18 July 2017 an award over 802,967 ordinary shares of the Company (the deferred interest).  
Subject to being employed by the Company one third of the shares are released to him on 18 July 2018, 18 July 2019 and 18 July 2020.

3.  Since the year end Gavin Rochussen has increased his deferred interest in the ordinary shares of the Company by 28,966 ordinary shares as part of the 
deferred remuneration award in respect of the year ended 31 March 2018.

There have been no other changes in the interests of the Directors who were in office at 31 March 2018 in the shares of  
the Company between 31 March 2018 and 22 June 2018. 

Share Prices Over the Financial Year
The shares have traded at prices between 558p (3 January 2018) and 357p (5 April 2017) per share. The share price on 
31 March 2018 was 514p per share.

External Advisors
The Committee has access to the advice of independent remuneration consultants when required. During the year the 
Remuneration Committee received advice from AON on the logistics of granting of LTIP awards and in relation  
to the preparation of this report. The Committee also consulted with the chief executive and chief operating officer  
on staff remuneration and incentive arrangements who in turn received guidance from Dechert LLP. The external advisors 
did not have any other relationship with the Company. 

Remuneration Committee Report continued
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in  
Relation to the Group’s Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual 
report and the Group financial statements in accordance 
with applicable United Kingdom law and those International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the 
European Union and for preparing the parent Company 
financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 (FRS 102).

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which present a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and parent Company and the 
financial performance and cash flows of the Group for that 
period. In preparing those financial statements the Directors 
are required to:

 • select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

 • present information, including accounting policies, in a 
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information;

 • provide additional disclosures when compliance with the 
specific requirements in IFRS and FRS 102 respectively is 
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of 
particular transactions, other events and conditions on 
the Group’s and parent Company’s financial position and 
financial performance; and

 • state that the Group and parent Company have complied 
with IFRS and FRS 102, respectively, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Group and enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

Disclosure of Information to the Auditor
Having made enquiries of fellow Directors and the Group’s 
auditor, each Director has taken all the steps that he is 
obliged to have taken as a Director in order to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the Group’s auditor is aware of the information. Each of the 
Directors at the date of approval of this report confirms to 
the best of his or her knowledge and belief that there is no 
relevant audit information, being information needed by the 
auditor in connection with preparing its report, of which the 
Group’s auditor is unaware. 

Going Concern
The Board with guidance from the Audit Committee has 
made an assessment of the Group’s position as at 31 March 
2018 and the factors impacting the forthcoming year are 
set out in the Strategic Report and in the Directors’ Report 
which incorporates the corporate governance statements.

The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, and its 
liquidity position are described in the Financial Review on 
pages 16 to 18. Note 4.3 to the financial statements include 
the Group’s policies and process for managing its capital; 
its financial risk management objectives; details of financial 
instruments; and hedging activities. Exposure to credit risk 
and liquidity risk are also disclosed.

After making enquiries the Directors believe that in light of 
the controls and monitoring process that are in place, and 
the financial resources available to the Group that the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future, being at least 12 months from 
the date of approval of the financial statements. Accordingly 
the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the annual report and accounts.

Fair, balanced and understandable 
The Directors consider that following advice from the Audit 
Committee, the Report and Financial Statements, taken as 
a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides 
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the 
Company’s position and performance, business model 
and strategy.

For and on behalf of the Board

Tom Bartlam
Chairman

22 June 2018
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Independent Auditor's Report to the  
Members of Polar Capital Holdings plc
For the year ended 31 March 2018

OPINION
In our opinion: 

 • Polar Capital Holdings plc’s group financial statements and parent company financial statements (‘the financial 
statements’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 
and of the group’s profit for the year then ended.

 • The group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’’) as adopted by the European Union.

 • The parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland’ (‘FRS 102’).

 • The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Polar Capital Holdings plc which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the year ended 
31 March 2018.

Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the 
year ended 31 March 2018

Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 
31 March 2018.

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018 Company Cash Flow Statement for the year ended  
31 March 2018.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year 
ended 31 March 2018.

Notes 5.1 to 5.5 to the Company Financial Statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2018, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 
March 2018.

Notes 1.1 to 4.12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2018, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable 
law and IFRS as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation 
of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, 
including FRS 102.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report below. We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied 
to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

 • We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to 
you where:

 • the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

 • the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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OVERVIEW OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Key audit matters  • Incorrect measurement and recognition of management and performance fee 
income, including the risk of issuing fee invoices with overstated amounts and 
other items of management override.

 • Incorrect measurement and recognition of management and performance fee 
income arising from the risk of incorrectly calculating Commission and fees 
payable (rebates), including the risk of management override.

 • Incorrect calculation of share based payments.

Audit scope  • We performed an audit of the complete financial information of all subsidiaries 
within the group.

Materiality  • Overall group materiality of £2.1 million which represents 5% of the Profit for 
the year before tax.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of 
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial statements as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters

Risk Our response to the risk

Key 
observations 
communicated 
to the audit 
committee

Incorrect measurement and recognition of management 
and performance fee income, including the risk of issuing 
fee invoices with overstated amounts and other items of 
management override 

Refer to the Accounting policy and Note 3.1 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (page 58).

Revenue is the most significant balance in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss. For the year ended 31 March 2018, 
fee income was made up of management fees and performance 
fees.

Due to complexity of the calculations there is a risk that 
management and performance fee income is incorrectly 
recognised.  There is a further risk of manipulation in the 
preparation of invoices as the Finance Team would have the ability 
to overstate the fee income billings.

We performed the following procedures:

 • Updated our understanding of the processes 
and controls in relation to management fees by 
performing a walkthrough in which we evaluated 
the design and effectiveness of controls.

 • Discussed any new products or changes to 
existing fee arrangements with Management.

 • Recalculated a sample of the management 
and performance fees in accordance with 
the underlying investment management 
agreements and checked that these were 
recognised in the correct period based on the 
assets under management per the reports 
received from the third party administrators of 
the funds and the fee rates per the prospectus.

 • Performed a substantive analytical review 
and trend analysis on the movement in 
management fees against the Assets under 
Management and the performance fees against 
the performance within the funds. 

 • Agreed a sample of management and 
performance fees to bank statements. 

 • Agreed the performance fees to the audited 
fund financial statements.

 • Tested the appropriateness of management and 
performance fee journal entries recorded in the 
general ledger and other adjustments made in 
the preparation of the financial statements.

The results of 
our procedures 
did not identify 
any issues in the 
measurement 
or recognition 
of management 
and performance 
fees or any 
management 
override.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the  
Members of Polar Capital Holdings plc continued
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Risk Our response to the risk

Key observations 
communicated 
to the audit 
committee

Incorrect measurement and recognition of management 
and performance fee income arising from the risk of 
incorrectly calculating Commission and fees payable 
(rebates), including the risk of management override

Refer to the Accounting policy 3.1 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements (page 58).

Due to the number of bespoke rebate contracts considered for 
the calculation of total rebates, there is a risk that fee rebates are 
incorrectly calculated resulting in a misstatement of revenue and 
unrecorded liabilities to its customers.

We performed the following procedures:

 • Updated our understanding of the processes 
and controls in relation to fee rebates by 
performing a walkthrough in which we 
evaluated the design and effectiveness of 
controls.

 • Recalculated a sample of fee rebates in 
accordance with the underlying rebate 
agreements.

 • Agreed a sample of management fee receipts 
net of rebates to bank statements.

 • Tested the appropriateness of rebates journal 
entries recorded in the general ledger and 
other adjustments made in the preparation of 
the financial statements.

The results of 
our procedures 
did not identify 
any issues in the 
measurement or 
recognition of 
rebates or any 
management 
override.

Incorrect calculation of share based payments

Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 34), and Accounting 
policy and Note 3.6 of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(page 61).

Certain employees of the Group and partners of Polar Capital 
LLP hold Manager Preference Shares or Team Preference Shares 
in Polar Capital Partners Limited (“Preference Shares”) and Long 
Term Incentive Payments (LTIP).

Share options in the Group are also granted to Directors and 
employees under an Enterprise Management Incentive scheme 
(EMI), Save as you Earn Scheme (SAYE), Company Share Option 
Scheme (CSOP) and the Group’s Equity Incentive Plan (EIP).

Due to the estimation involved in calculating the share based 
payments there is a risk of the share based payments not being 
calculated in line with IFRS 2 and the accounting policies.

We performed the following procedures:

 • Updated our understanding of payments made 
with respect to all schemes during the year 
and reviewed the payments authorised by the 
Remuneration Committee.

 • Updated our understanding of any changes 
to these plans to ensure the accounting is still 
in accordance IFRS 2 by discussing this with 
Management and reviewing documentation in 
relation to these plans.

 • Reviewed the bonus pool accrual calculation  
for 2018 at each reporting date to determine 
the appropriateness of amounts to be  
carried forward. 

 • Discussed any changes or new schemes with 
Management and reviewed the terms of the new 
share based compensation plans.

 • We involved our specialists from our EY 
valuations team to assist us in the review 
of the key inputs and assumptions used by 
Management in arriving at their calculation under 
the Black – Scholes Merton model.

 • Agreed a sample of individual awards that have 
been either granted or exercised during the year 
to underlying contractual information or other 
notification provided to employees, performed 
a recalculation of the expense based on the fair 
value, and checked that it was spread over the 
correct period.

 • Ensured the disclosures are consistent 
between the schemes and the financial 
statements and that they are in accordance 
with current guidance.

The results of our 
procedures did not 
identify any issues 
in the calculation 
of share based 
payments.
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AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT 
Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit 
scope for each entity within the group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the group and effectiveness of group wide controls, 
and changes in the business environment when assessing the level of work to be performed at each entity.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate quantitative 
coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements, we have audited all components within the group covering 
entities within the United Kingdom, Jersey, and the United States of America.

We performed an audit of the complete financial information of all components within the group which were selected based 
on their size or risk characteristics.

Changes from the prior year 
There were no changes in the audit scope from the prior year.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements 
on the audit and in forming our audit opinion. 

Materiality
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the 
nature and extent of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the group to be £2.1m (2017: £1.0m), which is 5% (2017: 5%) of the Profit for the year before 
tax. We believe that Profit for the year before tax is the most appropriate measure as it is the primary measure that investors 
use to assess the performance of the group. 

We determined materiality for the parent company to be £0.6m (2017: £0.5m), which is 1% (2017: 1%) of the  
Shareholders’ funds. 

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and made no changes to the basis of calculation from our 
original assessment at the planning stage

Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately 
low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the group’s overall control environment, our judgment 
was that performance materiality was 50% (2017: 50%) of our materiality, namely £1.0m (2017: £0.5m). We have set 
performance materiality at this percentage due to historical adjustments to the financial statements.

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £0.10m 
(2017: £0.05m), which is set at 5% (2017: 5%) of materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, 
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in 
light of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion
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Independent Auditor's Report to the  
Members of Polar Capital Holdings plc continued
For the year ended 31 March 2018

OTHER INFORMATION
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 1 to 43 other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, the part of the Remuneration Committee Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

 • the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 • the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

 • adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

 • the parent company financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Committee Report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 • certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

 • we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in relation to the Group’s Financial Statements set out 
on page 43, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and parent company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
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USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Amarjit Singh 
(Senior statutory auditor)

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London

22 June 2018

Notes:

1.  The maintenance and integrity of the Polar Capital Holdings plc web site is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does 
not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial 
statements since they were initially presented on the web site.

2. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Note
31 March 2018 

£’000
31 March 2017 

£’000 

Revenue 3.1 133,808 73,766

Other income 3.3 3,350 1,505

Gross income 137,158 75,271

Commissions and fees payable 3.1 (7,916) (5,578)

Net income 129,242 69,693

Operating costs 3.4 (87,965) (49,256)

Profit for the year before tax 41,277 20,437

Taxation 3.7 (8,478) (4,394)

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders 32,799 16,043

Earnings per share

Basic 3.8 36.4p 17.8p

Diluted 3.8 34.7p 17.0p

Adjusted basic (Non-GAAP measure) 3.8 38.4p 21.4p

Adjusted diluted (Non-GAAP measure) 3.8 36.6p 20.4p

Note
31 March 2018 

£’000
31 March 2017 

£’000 

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders 32,799 16,043

Other comprehensive income – items that may be  
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Net movement on fair valuation of cash flow hedges 3.3 1,695 (47)

Deferred tax effect 4.2 (322) 18

1,373 (29)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 15 795

Other comprehensive income for the year 1,388 766

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax, 
attributable to ordinary shareholders 34,187 16,809

All of the items in the above statements are derived from continuing operations.

The Notes on pages 54 to 76 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2018



Strateg
ic R

ep
o

rt
G

o
vern

an
ce

Fin
an

cial Statem
en

ts

51Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018

Note
31 March 2018

£’000
31 March 2017

£’000

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 4.1 1,971 2,402

Deferred tax assets 4.2 3,808 3,478

5,779 5,880

Current assets

Investment securities 4.3 9,750 14,429

Assets at fair value through profit or loss 4.3 11,679 9,623

Trade and other receivables 4.5 12,923 10,107

Other financial assets 4.3 833 –

Cash and cash equivalents 4.6 87,950 58,539

123,135 92,698

Total assets 128,914 98,578

Non-current liabilities

Provisions and other liabilities 4.7 2,026 2,169

Deferred tax liabilities 4.2 1,216 539

3,242 2,708

Current liabilities

Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4.3 1,790 2,170

Trade and other payables 4.8 34,256 19,741

Other financial liabilities 4.3 – 1,350

Current tax liabilities 1,958 1,869

38,004 25,130

Total liabilities 41,246 27,838

Net assets 87,668 70,740

Capital and reserves

Issued share capital 4.9 2,335 2,286

Share premium 4.9 18,872 18,631

Investment in own shares 4.9 (9,221) (3,747)

Capital and other reserves 4.9 11,441 7,840

Retained earnings 4.9 64,241 45,730

Total equity – attributable to ordinary shareholders 87,668 70,740

The Notes on pages 54 to 76 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2018.

Hugh Aldous    John Mansell
Chairman of the Audit Committee  Finance Director

Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Note

Issued 
share 

capital 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Investment 
in own 
shares 
£’000

Capital 
reserves 

£’000

Other 
reserves 

£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000

As at 1 April 2016 2,280 18,509 (747) 695 6,797 48,163 75,697

Profit for the year – – – – – 16,043 16,043

Other comprehensive income – – – – 766 – 766

Total comprehensive income – – – – 766 16,043 16,809

Dividends paid to 
shareholders 4.10 – – – – – (22,549) (22,549)

Dividends paid to 
third-party interests – – – – – (22) (22)

Issue of shares 4.9 6 122 – – – – 128

Own shares acquired – – (3,000) – – – (3,000)

Share-based payment 3.6 – – – – – 4,095 4,095

Current tax in respect of 
employee share options – – – – 47 – 47

Deferred tax in respect of 
employee share options – – – – (465) – (465)

As at 1 April 2017 2,286 18,631 (3,747) 695 7,145 45,730 70,740

Profit for the year – – – – – 32,799 32,799

Other comprehensive income – – – – 1,388 – 1,388

Total comprehensive income – – – – 1,388 32,799 34,187

Dividends paid to 
shareholders 4.10 – – – – – (22,934) (22,934)

Dividends paid to 
third-party interests – – – – – (34) (34)

Issue of shares 4.9 49 241 – – – (46) 244

Own shares acquired – – (5,474) – – – (5,474)

Share-based payment 3.6 – – – – – 8,726 8,726

Current tax in respect of 
employee share options – – – – 1,564 – 1,564

Deferred tax in respect of 
employee share options – – – – 649 – 649

As at 31 March 2018 2,335 18,872 (9,221) 695 10,746 64,241 87,668

The Notes on pages 54 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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 Notes
31 March 2018

£’000
31 March 2017

£’000

Cash flows generated from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 4.6 57,550 12,913

Tax paid (6,142) (3,662)

Net cash inflow generated from operating activities 51,408 9,251

Investing activities

Interest received 68 28

Investment income 549 525

Sale of investment securities 3,363 9,160

Purchase of investment securities (3,261) (11,479)

Sale of assets at fair value through profit or loss 12,493 29,575

Purchase of assets at fair value through profit or loss (11,020) (28)

Purchase of property and equipment 4.1 (77) (41)

Cash proceeds from disposal of consolidated seed investment 4,600 –

Net cash inflow generated from investing activities 6,715 27,740

Financing activities

Dividends paid to shareholders 4.10 (22,934) (22,549)

Issue of share capital 244 124

Purchase of own shares (5,474) (3,000)

Third-party subscriptions into consolidated funds 485 908

Third-party redemptions from consolidated funds (857) (2,502)

Dividends paid to third-party interests (34) (22)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (28,570) (27,041)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 29,553 9,950

Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year 58,539 48,862

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (142) (273)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4.6 87,950 58,539

The Notes on pages 54 to 76 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018

The notes to the consolidated financial statements of Polar Capital Holdings plc and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) 
for the year ended 31 March 2018 have been set out in sections to improve their structuring and cross referencing to the 
primary financial statements. Accounting policies are contained and highlighted within each relevant note. 

SECTION 1: CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
This section provides general information about Polar Capital Holdings plc and its subsidiaries.

1.1. Corporate information
Polar Capital Holdings plc (the ‘Company’) is a public limited company registered in England and Wales whose shares are 
traded on the Alternative Investment Market (‘AIM’) of the London Stock Exchange. 

1.2. Group information
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the operating subsidiaries listed below. All operating subsidiaries, 
other than Polar Capital Partners Limited, were indirectly held. All operating subsidiaries are wholly owned, except for Polar 
Capital LLP in which Polar Capital Partners Limited has contributed 99.5% of the capital.

Name
Country of 
incorporation Registered office Principal activities

Polar Capital Partners Limited UK 16 Palace Street, London Services company

Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited UK 16 Palace Street, London Dormant

Polar Capital Partners (Jersey) Limited Jersey 12 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey Investment management

Polar Capital (America) Corporation USA 2711 Centreville Road, Wilmington, USA Investment advisory

Polar Capital Limited Liability Partnership UK 16 Palace Street, London Investment management

The consolidated financial statements of the Group also include the following seed capital investment which was judged to 
be a subsidiary of the Group as at 31 March 2018:

Name
Country of 
incorporation Registered office Principal activities

Percentage of 
ordinary shares held

Polar Capital European Income Fund Ireland 4 Georges Court, 54–62 
Townsend Street, Dublin

UCITS sub-fund 82% 

SECTION 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT POLICIES
This section provides additional information about the overall basis of preparation that the Directors consider is  
useful and relevant in understanding these consolidated financial statements:

 • Summary of other significant accounting policies affecting the results and financial position of the Group, including 
changes in accounting policies and disclosures during the year.

 • Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted by the Group.

2.1. Basis of preparation
The consolidated Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified by the 
measurement at fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities and derivative financial instruments. The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£’000), except when 
otherwise stated.
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2.2. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as 
at 31 March 2018. Subsidiaries are those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an investee if, and 
only if, the Group has:

 • power over the investee; 

 • exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

 • the ability to use its power over the investee to affect returns.

The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including 
the purpose and design of an investee, relevant activities, substantive and protective rights, voting rights and potential 
voting rights.

Seed capital investments in funds that the Group manages are accounted for as subsidiaries, associates or financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) depending on the holdings of the Group, on the level of influence and control 
that the Group is judged to have and whether the Group assesses it is acting as an agent or principal for its holdings in the 
seed capital investments. There is no fixed minimum percentage at which the Group consolidates, and each exposure is 
reviewed individually.

Where the Group concludes it is acting as a principal the entity is consolidated. This assessment is based on the Group’s 
total exposure. This incorporates direct holdings, income earned from management and performance fees and the assessed 
strength of third-party kick-out rights.

The Group concludes that it acts as an agent when the power it has over the fund is deemed to be exercised for the benefit 
of third-party investors.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains 
control and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company and where 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with 
those of the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Where external investors hold redeemable shares in funds controlled by the Group, the portion of profit or loss and net 
assets held by these third-party interests is included within other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
as financial liabilities at FVTPL in the consolidated balance sheet respectively.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets, liabilities, third-party interest and other 
components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised 
at fair value.

Net cashflows on initial consolidation or deconsolidation are presented as investing activities within the consolidated 
cashflow statement. Cashflows from third-party interests into consolidated funds are presented as financing activities.

2.3. Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

Generally, it is presumed that the Group has significant influence where it has voting rights of 20% or more, but not control 
of an investee.

Seed capital investments over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, are carried in the balance sheet as 
assets at FVTPL as permitted by IAS 28: Investment in Associates, with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated 
statement profit or loss. The fair value of investments in associates is determined by reference to the quoted price or net 
asset value of the underlying investments at the close of business on the balance sheet date.

The Group has no other investments in associates and, therefore, no associates are currently accounted for using the 
equity method.
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SECTION 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT POLICIES CONTINUED
2.4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make critical accounting estimates 
and assumptions. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The Group bases its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements 
were prepared. Where circumstances and parameters change, the original estimates and assumptions are modified in the 
period in which the change occurs. The areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements are set out in the following notes:

 • Share-based payments (Note 3.6);

 • Deferred tax (Note 4.2); and

 • Consolidation of seed capital investments (Note 2.2).

2.5. Foreign currency
(i) Functional and presentational currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling which is also the functional currency for the 
Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements  
of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at their respective functional currency rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the functional currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items, such as plant and 
equipment, that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at 
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items, such as investments in equity instruments, measured at fair value 
in a foreign currency are translated using exchange rates at the date fair value is determined. All exchange differences are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within operating costs.

(iii) Consolidation
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas subsidiaries whose functional currency is not Sterling are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at average exchange 
rates for the accounting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and are 
reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal of the relevant overseas subsidiary.

2.6. Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference 
to quoted market prices or dealer price quotation (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without 
any deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments not traded in an active market, such as forward exchange 
contracts, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques that take into account the terms and 
conditions of the contracts and utilise observable market data, such as spot and forward rates, as inputs.

2.7. New standards and amendments not yet effective
The following new standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for  
the Group’s accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2018 or later periods, but the Group has decided not to  
early adopt them:



Strateg
ic R

ep
o

rt
G

o
vern

an
ce

Fin
an

cial Statem
en

ts

57Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018

Standards issued  
but not yet effective Summary and impact

Effective for period  
beginning on or after

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments: 
Classification and 
Measurement

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments replaces the classification and 
measurement models for financial instruments in IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with three classification 
categories: amortised cost, fair value through profit or loss and fair 
value through other comprehensive income. The Group does not expect 
the adoption of IFRS 9 to have an impact on the classification of its 
financial instruments.

IFRS 9 also introduces an expected loss model for the assessment of 
impairment as compared to the incurred loss model under IAS 39 
which requires the Group to recognise impairment losses when there 
is objective evidence that an asset is impaired. The Group does not 
expect the adoption of the expected loss model under IFRS 9 to have a 
significant impact on the Group financial statements due to the nature 
of assets held (mostly management and performance fees receivables 
from, and investments in, funds that it manages).

1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from  
Contracts with 
Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue 
arising from contracts with customers and provides a more structured 
approach to measuring and recognising revenue.

The Group has two principal revenue streams in the form of 
management fees and performance fees. As part of the assessment 
process, the five-step model has been applied to each material revenue 
stream. It is considered that the application of the five-step model to 
material revenue streams does not result in any significant change to 
either the timing of when revenue is recognised; or to the value of the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements when compared to the 
way in which revenue is currently recognised under IAS 18 Revenue.

1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases IFRS 16 provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees 
to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 
12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value.

The adoption of IFRS 16 is likely to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s financial statements as total assets and liabilities will increase 
because of the requirement to capitalise both the right to use leased 
assets and the related lease liability which represents contractual 
payments to be made under lease obligations. The capitalised asset 
will be amortised on a straight-line basis with the lease liability being 
amortised using the effective interest method.

On initial application, it is expected that capitalised assets and 
corresponding lease liabilities of approximately £11m will be recognised. 
There will be no changes to the actual cashflows, however, as the 
liability will be discounted, the lease payments will be reflected as part 
repayment of the liability and partly as a finance charge taken to profit 
or loss.

Adoption is also likely to have an impact on the Group’s regulatory 
capital position as the capitalised asset will meet the definition of an 
illiquid asset and hence require a deduction from the Group’s capital 
with a consequent reduction in the Group’s regulatory capital surplus.

1 January 2019
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SECTION 3: DETAILED INFORMATION ON CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ITEMS
This section provides additional information about individual line items in the statement of profit or loss and statement  
of comprehensive income, including the relevant accounting policies.

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Investment management and research fees 98,153 73,471
Investment performance fees 35,639 2,718
Gain/(loss) on forward currency contracts 16 (2,423)

133,808 73,766

Net gains and losses on forward currency contracts used to hedge management fees derived from non-Sterling based AUM 
(see Note 4.3 (b) and (c)) are included within revenue. This presentation better reflects the substance of these transactions 
and provides more relevant information about the Group’s revenue.

3.2. Operating segments

3.1. Revenue
Revenue recognition
Revenue represents fees receivable (excluding value added tax) for discretionary investment management services during 
the period. 

Management fees are based on a percentage of assets under management as set out in the relevant investment 
management agreements. The fees are recognised in the period in which the service is provided and it is probable  
that the fee will be received. 

Performance fees are based on a percentage of investment performance achieved relative to predefined benchmarks 
as set out in the relevant investment management agreements. The fees are recognised at the end of the period over 
which the performance is measured, when a reliable estimate of the fee can be made, and it is almost certain that the 
fee will be received.

Investment income
Dividend income from investments is recognised on the date that the right to receive payment has been established.

Interest receivable and similar income
Interest receivable is recognised on an accruals basis using effective interest method.

Commissions and fees payable
Commissions and fees payable to third parties are in respect of the management of investment management contracts. 
Commissions, distribution and research fees payable to third parties are recognised over the period for which the service  
is provided.

The financial information provided to the chief operating decision maker, the Board of Directors (the ‘Board’) is on an 
aggregated basis. Strategic and financial management decisions are determined centrally, and, on this basis, the Group 
is a single segment investment management business.

The Group is a specialist investment management group offering professional and institutional investors a range of 
geographical and sector investment opportunities. The Group’s assets under management are separated into products and 
services but as the strategic and financial management decisions are determined centrally by the Board, the Group only has 
one class of business, being the provision of investment management and advisory services. The Group’s revenue generating 
operations are in London, with small offices in Tokyo, Jersey, Edinburgh and Connecticut that do not generate any revenue.
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Geographical analysis of revenue (based on the residency of source)

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

UK 17,497 13,238

Ireland 108,156 54,922

Cayman 5,571 5,316

Europe 2,568 2,713

Gain/(loss) on forward currency contracts 16 (2,423)

133,808 73,766

3.3. Components of Other income and Other Comprehensive Income
(a) Components of other income

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 68 28

Net loss on other financial liabilities – short positions and futures (792) (3,191)

Net gain/(loss) on forward currency contracts 4 (2,439)

Net gain on financial assets at FVTPL – seed investments 3,461 5,878

Investment income 492 464

Net (loss)/gain on investment securities (112) 1,007

Other gains/(losses) – attributed to third-party holdings 229 (242)

3,350 1,505

(b) Components of other comprehensive income

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Cash flow hedges – Forward currency contracts:

Gains/(losses) arising during the year 1,711 (2,471)

Reclassification adjustments for (gains)/losses

included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (16) 2,424

1,695 (47)

No ineffective gains or losses arose on cash flow hedges during the year.

3.4. Operating Costs

(a) Operating costs include the following significant items:
Operating leases
A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified as a finance 
lease. An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Amounts payable under operating leases are charged to 
the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Staff costs including partnership profit allocations (Note 3.5) 72,909 35,994

Depreciation 508 501

Auditor’s remuneration (Note 3.4b) 161 163

Operating lease rentals – land and buildings 1,232 1,263
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3.4. Profit before taxation continued
(b) Auditor’s remuneration:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Audit of Group financial statements 52 50

Other fees:

– local statutory audits of subsidiaries 39 39

– GIPS review 12 12

– internal controls review 45 45

– tax advisory services 13 17

161 163

3.5. Staff costs

(b) Deferred remuneration
Where variable compensation is deferred, the cost of the award is spread over the vesting period and included within 
staff costs. The liability is revalued at each balance sheet date to the expected settlement amount, being the current 
market value of the underlying fund unit. Any increase or decrease in value is recognised in the income statement within 
staff costs. The liability is included in the balance sheet as part of accrued expenses within trade and other payables.

Where deferrals are made into Company shares or fund units the Group hedges its exposure to price fluctuations by 
purchasing the Company shares or fund units at the date of grant. Company shares held are shown as a deduction from 
equity and accounted for as a share based payment. Fund units are included within financial assets at FVTPL on the 
balance sheet. Any change in the fair value of the units is recognised in the income statement within other gains.

Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme covering the majority of its staff. The costs of the pension 
scheme are charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(a) Group staff costs were as follows:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Salaries 17,389 11,999

Social security costs 4,569 834

Pension costs 567 538

Partnership profit allocations 41,705 18,528

Share-based payments (Note 3.6) 8,726 4,095

Net gain on financial assets at FVTPL – investments in own funds  
held under deferred remuneration arrangements (47) –

72,909 35,994

Pension costs outstanding at the year-end amounted to nil (2017: nil).

During the prior year the Group implemented its Deferred Remuneration Plan (DRP) in which all Group employees eligible for 
a bonus over a certain level, as determined by the Remuneration Committee, are required to participate. The DRP provides 
for compulsory deferral of a proportion of bonus over a specified vesting period. Deferrals can be made either into shares in 
the Company, units in the Group’s funds or as cash.

Included with staff costs in the income statement is a charge of £1.9m (2017: £0.4m) relating to bonuses deferred into cash 
and fund units.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 share-based payments have been reclassified from a separate line on the face of the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss to Operating Costs. 
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The Group enters into share-based payment transactions in respect of services receivable from certain employees by 
granting options over shares or awards over shares in the Company subject to certain vesting options and exercise 
prices. These are accounted for as equity-settled share based payments.

The cost of the awards is determined by the fair value of the share options or shares at the date of grant, using an 
option pricing model, the key inputs to which are disclosed in the note below, and is recognised as an expense over 
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. These estimates 
are reviewed regularly and the charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss is adjusted accordingly. The 
corresponding credit is recognised in retained earnings within total equity.

Where an award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any cost not yet recognised 
is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(c) Average number of employees

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Average number of partners and full time employees, including executive directors:

Fund Management 55 55

Administration 65 59

120 114

All employees are directly or indirectly engaged in the Group’s business.

Details regarding the total remuneration paid to Directors who served during the year as required by the Companies Act 
2006 is disclosed in the Remuneration Committee Report.

3.6. Share-based payments

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest.

A summary of the charge to the income statement for each share-based payment arrangement is as follows:

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Preference shares 5,045 3,206

LTIP and initial share awards 1,837 –

Equity Incentive Plans 701 889

Deferred remuneration plan 1,143 –

8,726 4,095

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option 
pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists 
the inputs to the model used for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017.

31 March 2018 31 March 2017 

Dividend yield (%) 5 – 5.81 7.82

Expected share price volatility (%) 32.9 – 34.3 34.1

Risk free interest rate (%) 0.53 – 1.1 0.22 – 0.35

Weighted average share price (£) 4.39 3.16

Expected life of option – Preference Shares 6 6

Expected life of option – LTIP awards 6 –

Expected life of option – Equity Incentive Plans Vesting period Vesting period

The share price volatility was calculated by reference to the Company’s historic share price.

No other features of options granted were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.
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3.6. Share-based payments continued

(a) Manager and team preference shares (‘Preference Shares’)
Certain employees of the Group and partners of Polar Capital LLP hold Manager Preference Shares or Manager Team 
Member Preference Shares (together ‘Preference Shares’) in Polar Capital Partners Limited, a group company. 

The preference shares are designed to incentivise and retain the Group’s fund management teams. These shares provide 
each manager with an economic interest in the funds that they run and ultimately enable the manager, at their option and at 
a future date, to convert their interest in the revenues generated from their funds to a value that may (at the discretion of the 
parent undertaking, Polar Capital Holdings plc) be satisfied by the issue of ordinary shares in Polar Capital Holdings plc. Such 
conversion takes place according to a pre-defined conversion formula that considers the relative contribution of the manager 
to the Group as a whole. The equity is awarded in return for the forfeiture of a manager’s current core economic interest 
and is issued over three years from the date of conversion. 

The issue of the Preference Shares constitutes a share-based payment under IFRS 2 and the cost is the estimated fair value, 
at the date of issue of the preference shares, of the effective entitlement to the ordinary shares. At each reporting date 
the estimated number of ordinary shares to be ultimately issued upon conversion will vary and the holder, initially, and the 
Group, ultimately, determines the start of the three year period (‘Crystallisation’) over which the ordinary shares are awarded 
following conversion. The start of this period will always be at least three years after the end of the financial accounting 
period in which the preference shares are issued.

At 31 March 2018 three sets of preference shares (2017: three sets) have the right to call for conversion.

The following table illustrates the number of, and movements in, the estimated number of ordinary shares to be issued.

Estimated number of ordinary shares to be issued on conversion:

31 March 2018 
Number  

of shares

31 March 2017 
Number  

of shares

At 1 April 2017 7,046,768 5,704,112

Movement in the year 1,380,545 1,342,656

As at 31 March 2018 8,427,313 7,046,768

In the year to 31 March 2018 there were no new conversions of preference shares into Polar Capital Holdings equity 
(2017: nil), the most recent conversion having been initiated during the year to 31 March 2014. 

(b) LTIP and initial share awards 
Initial share award
On appointment in July 2017 the CEO, Gavin Rochussen, was granted an award over 802,967 ordinary shares of the 
Company. The value of the shares at the date of grant was £4.2775 and the award vests over a four year period. 

A charge of £1.5m (2017: nil) was recognised during the current financial year. As at 31 March 2018 no shares had vested.

LTIP awards
Members of the Executive Committee , which includes the Executive Directors, are entitled to participate in the LTIP plan. 
This plan allows for an executive variable pay pool based on 12% of pre-tax and executive variable compensation profits to 
be delivered, after accounting for annual bonus awards, in the form of nil cost options over shares in the Company. These 
awards vest of a four year period subject to performance and employment conditions.

A charge of £0.35m (2017: nil) was recognised during the current financial year. This relates to the performance year ended 
31 March 2018 for awards which are expected to be granted in July 2018.

(c) Group equity incentive plans
As part of an ongoing program to retain and incentivise employees, the Group issues share options under the following schemes:

(i) Save as you Earn scheme
Share options in Polar Capital Holdings plc are granted to employees under a HMRC tax-advantaged Save as You Earn 
scheme. These shares have a vesting period of five to seven years, and the exercise price for each option is the market value 
of the shares on the date the option was granted, subject to a discount of up to 20%. The scheme is linked to a SAYE 
savings contract. 
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(ii) Company share option scheme
Share options in Polar Capital Holdings plc are granted to employees under a HMRC tax-advantaged arrangement up to 
a value at the date of grant of £30,000. These shares have a vesting period of either three or four years from the date of 
grant, and the exercise price for each option is the market value of the shares on the date it was granted.

(iii) Unapproved share option scheme
In cases where the terms of the schemes above cannot be met, unapproved share options are granted, under the terms of 
the Group’s Equity Incentive Plan or 2016 Executive Incentive Plan. These options vest in either four to five years, and are 
granted at a price agreed by the Directors of the Group.

The contractual term of all company share options, except for those issued under the SAYE scheme, is 10 years.

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options 
during the year.

2018 2017

Number WAEP Number WAEP

Outstanding at beginning of the year 12,627,794 271p 11,777,517 137p

Granted during the year 1,912,643 441p 1,235,156 300p

Exercised during the year1 (3,169,669) 406p (290,438) 131p

Lapsed during the year (600,000) 183p (94,441) 360p

Outstanding at end of the year 10,770,768 318p 12,627,794 271p

Exercisable at end of the year 7,239,701 287p 6,449,517 149p

1  Under the rules of the Group Equity Incentive Plan, unapproved share options may be issued as equity settled share appreciation rights, thereby enabling 
the Group to issue a net number of shares to employees on the exercise of options. During the year 1,980,106 shares (Note 4.9) were issued to satisfy the 
total number of options exercised (2017: 206,298 shares).

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was £4.39 (2017: £3.16).

For options exercised during the year the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was £4.73 (2017: £3.16).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the share options outstanding as at 31 March 2018 was 5.6 years 
(2017: 5.5 years). The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was:

Earliest exercise date
Number of 

options Exercise price 

Vested as at 31 March 2018 7,239,701 92p – 493p

Year ending 31 March 2019 354,307 166p – 446p

Year ending 31 March 2020 6,211 396p

Year ending 31 March 2021 997,750 315p – 356p

Year ending 31 March 2022 2,110,156 244p – 479p

Year ending 31 March 2023 62,643 339p

(d) Deferred Remuneration Plan (DRP)
As indicated in Note 3.5 (b) all Group employees eligible for a bonus above a certain level are required to participate in 
the DRP. Where deferrals are made into shares of the Company these are accounted for as an equity settled share-based 
payment award in the consolidated accounts. There are no performance conditions attached to the awards. The fair value of 
an award is calculated using the market value of the shares acquired to hedge the award. The fair value charges, adjusted to 
reflect actual levels of vesting, are spread over the performance period and the vesting periods of the awards. One third of 
an award will vest and become exercisable on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date.

A charge of £1.1m (2017: nil) was recognised during the current financial year in relation to awards over 618,377 shares.  
The weighted average fair value of shares granted was £5.12.
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3.7. Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax payable for the reporting period (current tax) and a charge relating to tax 
payable for future periods due to income or expenses being recognised in different periods for tax and accounting purposes 
(deferred tax).

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years 
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Tax relating to items charged or 
credited directly to equity is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the statement of profit or loss, except when it relates 
to items charged or credited to other comprehensive income or directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 
dealt with in the statement of other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

With effect from 1 April 2017, the UK corporation tax rate changed from 20% to 19%.

The major components of Corporation tax for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 are:

(a) Tax recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

UK Corporation tax

UK Corporation tax on profits of the year 7,857 4,356

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (55) (143)

Total current tax 7,802 4,213

Foreign Tax

Current year 2 82

Prior year adjustment – (44)

2 38

Deferred tax

Originating and reversal of temporary differences 279 (127)

Rate change adjustment (3) (29)

Prior year adjustment 398 299

674 143

Total tax recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss 8,478 4,394

(b) Tax recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income/equity
Current and deferred tax recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income and the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity is shown on the face of those statements. 
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(c) Reconciliation of tax charge
The tax assessed on the profit on ordinary activities during the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax of 19% 
(2017: 20%). The differences are reconciled below:

31 March 2018
 £’000

31 March 2017
 £’000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 41,277 20,437

Tax on profit on ordinary activities at standard rate of 19% (2017: 20%) 7,843 4,087

Adjustments in respect of prior periods 343 112

Rate change adjustment (4) (46)

Disallowed expenses/(income) (711) (537)

Other – share based payments 1,007 778

Total tax at an effective rate of 21% (2017: 22%) 8,478 4,394

3.8. Earnings per share
A reconciliation of the figures used in calculating the basic, diluted and adjusted earnings per share (EPS) is as follows:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Earnings

Profit after tax for purpose of basic and diluted EPS 32,799 16,043

Adjustments (post tax):

Add back cost of share-based payments on preference shares 5,045 3,206

Less net amount of deferred staff remuneration (3,237) –

Profit after tax for purpose of adjusted basic and adjusted diluted EPS 34,607 19,249

The adjusted EPS figure includes an adjustment for deferred remuneration costs. The Group believes that aligning staff 
remuneration and profits generated in the same period will allow users of the financial statements to gain a better 
understanding of the Group’s results and their comparability year on year.

31 March 2018 
Number of 

shares

31 March 2017 
Number of 

shares

Weighted average number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, excluding own shares,  
for the purpose of basic and adjusted basic EPS 90,104,708 90,136,239

Effect of dilutive potential shares – share options 4,513,728 4,289,806

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, for purpose of  
diluted and adjusted diluted EPS 94,618,436 94,426,045

31 March 2018 
Pence

31 March 2017 
Pence

Earnings per share

Basic 36.4p 17.8p

Diluted 34.7p 17.0p

Adjusted basic 38.4p 21.4p

Adjusted diluted 36.6p 20.4p
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SECTION 4: DETAILED INFORMATION ON CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
This section provides additional information about individual line items in the balance sheet, including the relevant 
accounting policies.

4.1. Property and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less depreciation and accumulated impairment provisions. Depreciation is 
provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset over its expected useful economic life. The carrying value of 
property, plant and equipment is assessed annually and any impairment is charged to the statement of profit or loss.

Depreciation is charged from the date that the asset is brought into use on a straight line basis as follows:

Leasehold improvements  10% 
Computer equipment  33% 
Office furniture   33%

2018

Leasehold 
Improvements 

£’000

Computer 
Equipment 

£’000

Office  
Furniture 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Cost

As at 1 April 2017 2,705 449 391 3,545

Additions – 72 5 77

Disposals – (9) – (9)

As at 31 March 2018 2,705 512 396 3,613

Depreciation

As at 1 April 2017 552 332 259 1,143

Charge for the year 278 102 128 508

Disposals – (9) – (9)

As at 31 March 2018 830 425 387 1,642

Net book value at 31 March 2018 1,875 87 9 1,971

 

2017

Leasehold 
Improvements 

£’000

Computer 
Equipment 

£’000

Office  
Furniture 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Cost

As at 1 April 2016 2,705 411 388 3,504

Additions – 38 3 41

Disposals – – – –

As at 31 March 2017 2,705 449 391 3,545

Depreciation

As at 1 April 2016 274 236 132 642

Charge for the year 278 96 127 501

Disposals – – – –

As at 31 March 2017 552 332 259 1,143

Net book value at 31 March 2017 2,153 117 132 2,402
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4.2. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax is recognised based on differences between the carrying value of assets and liabilities for accounting 
purposes and their tax values (See Note 3.7).

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
only recognised to the extent that the Group considers them to be recoverable; which is determined by reference to 
estimates that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends 
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The Finance (No. 2) Act 2015 in the UK reduced the main rate of Corporation taxation to 19% with effect from 1 April 2017 
and as part of the Finance Act 2016, a further reduction to 17% with effect from 1 April 2020 was substantially enacted 
on 6 September 2016. The effect of these reductions is reflected in the Group’s deferred tax balances as the rate was 
substantively enacted before 31 March 2018. An analysis of the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Deferred tax asset

Share-based payments 3,150 2,245

Unutilised capital losses – 977

Change in basis adjustment 481 –

Other financial assets and liabilities 177 256

3,808 3,478

Deferred tax liability

Capital allowances (43) (78)

Assets at FVTPL (1,020) (461)

Other financial assets and liabilities (153) –

(1,216) (539)

Deferred tax movements recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income were as follows:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Deferred tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in profit or loss

Share-based payments 255 16

Capital allowances 35 (46)

Change in basis adjustment (66) –

Assets at FVTPL (302) 563

Other financial assets and liabilities (485) 447

Unutilised capital losses (111) (837)

(674) 143

Deferred tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in other 
comprehensive income

Deferred tax on other financial assets and liabilities (322) 18

(322) 18

Deferred tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in equity

Deferred tax on share-based payments 649 (465)
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4.3. Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value

(a) Seed capital investments
The Group ordinarily provides seed capital in order to provide initial scale and facilitate marketing of new funds to 
third-party investors.

(i) Assets held-for-sale
Where the Group invests seed capital into funds that it controls and the Group is actively seeking to reduce its investment 
and it is considered highly probable that it will relinquish control within a year, the interests in the funds are treated as 
held-for-sale and are recognised as financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-sale.

Investments cease to be classified as held-for-sale when they are no longer controlled by the Group. A loss of control 
may happen either through sale of the investment and/or dilution of the Group’s holding. When investments cease to be 
classified as held-for-sale they are classified as financial assets designated as FVTPL. No such funds were transferred to the 
FVTPL category during the year (2017: none). 

Financial instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or where they have been transferred and the Group 
has also transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability has been discharged, cancelled or has expired.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets include seed capital investments, trade and other receivables, cash and equivalents and 
derivative financial instruments. The classification adopted by the Group depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired and is determined at initial recognition.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, being the consideration given, plus, any directly attributable 
transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss where transaction 
costs are immediately recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised at trade date, being the date when the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.

Investment securities
Investment securities represent securities, other than derivatives, held by consolidated funds. These securities are 
designated as FVTPL and are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised through the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition 
at FVTPL. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
in the near term. The Group’s investments in the funds that it manages, but does not control, including those which 
are held by the Group to hedge bonus awards deferred into fund units, are classified as financial assets at FVTPL. Such 
assets are subsequently carried at fair value, with any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value being recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, derivative financial instruments and third-party interests 
in funds that have been consolidated as subsidiaries. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are carried at fair value, with gains and losses recognised in the consolidated income 
statement within other income in the period in which they arise. Financial liabilities at FVTPL relate to third-party 
interests in consolidated funds which are designated as at FVTPL.
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(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11,679 9,623

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL include seed capital investments in funds that it manages but does not control. This 
includes seed capital investments in funds that are classed as associates (see Note 2.3) where the Group has significant 
influence but does not control the fund. At 31 March 2018 there were no funds classed as associates (2017: no funds). 
During the year the Group redeemed its seed capital investments from 5 funds classed as assets at FVTPL for a total cash 
consideration of £12.5m (2017: 3 seed capital investments were redeemed for a cash consideration of £30m). The fair values 
of such financial assets are derived from quoted market prices in active markets. 

(iii) Consolidated funds
As at 31 March 2018 the Group has consolidated 1 fund (2017: 2 funds) over which it is deemed to have control (see Note 
2.2). Consolidated funds represent seed capital investments where the Group has held its position for a period greater than 
one year and its interest represents a controlling stake in the fund in accordance with IFRS 10. Consolidated fund assets and 
liabilities are presented line by line after intercompany eliminations. During the year the Group closed down the International 
Alpha Fund which in the prior year was held as a consolidated fund. Cash proceeds on closure of the fund amounted to 
£4.6m (2017: nil).

The table below sets out an analysis of the carrying amounts of interests held by the Group in consolidated investment funds:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Investment securities 9,750 14,429

Cash and cash equivalents 200 244

Other (8) (1)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL – Third-party interests in consolidated funds (1,790) (2,170)

Consolidated seed capital investments 8,152 12,502

Investment securities are designated as FVTPL and include listed equities held by consolidated funds. Other includes trade 
receivables, trade payables and accruals.

(b) Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group uses forward currency contracts to hedge the risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations. Such 
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments are classified as financial assets 
when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Forward currency contracts used for currency hedging purposes are treated as cash flow hedges and the effective 
portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective 
portion is taken to the statement of profit or loss. Amounts recognised as other comprehensive income are transferred 
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the hedged items affect profit or loss.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which 
the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the 
hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature 
of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair 
value in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
Such hedges are expected to be effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed 
on an ongoing basis to determine that they have actually been effective throughout the financial reporting periods for 
which they were designated.
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4.3. Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value continued

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Foreign exchange forward contracts 27 (56)

Securities – short positions and futures 57 (348)

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

Foreign exchange forward contracts 749 (946)

Other financial assets/(liabilities) 833 (1,350)

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments reflect the changes in fair values of foreign currency exchange forward 
contracts and short positions of securities that are not designated in hedge relationships, but are, nevertheless intended to 
reduce the level of foreign currency and price risk, respectively, on the Group’s seed investments as described in Note 4.3c.

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments reflect the changes in fair values of foreign exchange forward contracts 
designated as cash flow hedges to hedge highly probable forecast revenue in US dollars (USD) and Japanese Yen (JPY) as 
described in Note 4.3c.

(c) Financial instruments risk management objectives and policies
The main areas of risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and capital risk. 
Each of these risks is discussed in detail below. The Group monitors financial risks on a consolidated basis and intra-Group 
balances are settled when it is deemed appropriate for both parties to the transaction. The Company is not exposed 
to material financial risk and separate disclosures for the Company have not been included. The Group has designed a 
framework to manage the risks of its business and to ensure that the Directors have in place risk management practices 
appropriate for a listed company. The management of risk within the Group is governed by the Board and overseen by the 
Audit Committee. 

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty fails to settle its debt to the Group.

Fees due from funds managed by the Group are invoiced monthly or quarterly and are settled within 30 days of the invoice 
date. No trade receivables at year end are impaired and to date there have been no settlement issues with any funds. The 
risk is therefore regarded as low.

Amounts placed on deposit are invested according to a treasury policy that is designed to reduce concentration and 
counterparty risk. Investments in assets at FVTPL are monitored regularly. The carrying value of the Group’s financial assets 
represents its maximum exposure to credit risk at the year end.

(ii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due. The Group maintains 
significant liquid resources in the form of cash or cash deposits in order to meet working capital and regulatory needs. The 
Group’s treasury policy is designed to align the duration period of the cash investments to the working capital requirements 
of the Group with no investment being placed for a period of more than three months.

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables and derivative instruments and third-party interests in 
funds that have been consolidated as subsidiaries. The maturity dates for all financial liabilities fall within either one year or 
are repayable on demand. 

(iii) Price risk
Price risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Group’s income or value of its investments.

The Group holds financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consisting of seed investments in funds that it manages 
as well as investment securities held by consolidated funds, which are sensitive to movements in market equity prices. 

Should the market move by +/– 10%, and all the funds (and hence the Group’s investments) move by this same amount, it 
would result in a change to the carrying value of the assets of +/– £2m (2017: £2m). 

This movement would be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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(iv) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows related to financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes 
to market interest rates. 

The Group’s cash and short-term deposits earn nominal amounts of interest at a floating rate and any change in market 
interest rates would result in negligible change to profit before tax. The Group has no borrowings. 

(v) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates will cause the Group to suffer losses.

Although the majority of management fees are received in Sterling, a certain amount of those fees are generated from 
assets based in other countries, in particular US dollar-based assets and a smaller amount of Yen based assets.

In order to hedge the risk associated with the management fees receivable in the next reporting period, the Group enters 
into a number of forward foreign currency contracts over a period of 12 months. At year end, the Group had four (2017: 
four) open contracts to sell US dollars totalling USD $25,950,000 (2017: USD $20,900,000), for a total of £19,239,380 (2017: 
£15,826,331). There was one open Sterling/Yen contract to sell a total of ¥34,000,000 (2017: ¥57,000,000), for a total of 
£240,822 (2017: £356,607).

The Group also holds assets at FVTPL consisting of investments in its own funds. Where such investments are made in assets 
denominated in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency, Sterling, the Group is exposed to changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates.

As at the year end there is one (2017: two) investment in a non-hedged product and the Group has therefore hedged 
against the risk of exposure to changes in the foreign currency exchange rates caused by the underlying Euro (2017: US 
Dollar/Euro) assets within these investments. The Group has one forward currency contract for the sale of €7,650,000 to 
purchase £6,733,840 (2017: two contracts, one for the sale of €6,700,000 to purchase £5,713,311 and one for the sale of 
USD $4,900,000 to purchase £3,886,113).

The Group’s hedging policy serves to substantially mitigate its exposure to foreign currency risk on its revenue and balance 
sheet investments. Any changes in foreign exchange rates will have an equal and opposite effect on the hedged items and 
open forward currency contracts. 

(vi) Capital management
All companies within the Group are managed as going concerns and have sufficient capital to meet their day-to-day needs 
and to fulfil any externally imposed capital requirements. The capital of the Group and the Company consists of equity 
attributable to equity holders of the parent company, comprising issued share capital, share premium, reserves and retained 
earnings as disclosed in Note 4.9.

The Group is supervised by the Financial Conduct Authority and submits appropriate returns on the capital adequacy of both 
the Group and the regulated entity, Polar Capital LLP. Throughout the year the Group and Polar Capital LLP held surplus 
capital over the regulated requirement. 

(vii) Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either 
directly or indirectly.

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 
observable market data.
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4.3. Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value continued

The fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities which are carried at fair value of year end is as follows:

2018 2017

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Financial assets

Investment securities  9,750 – –  9,750  14,429 – –  14,429 

Assets at FVTPL 11,679 – –  11,679  9,623 – –  9,623 

Other financial assets 57 776 – 833

21,486 776 –  22,262 24,052 – –  24,052 

Financial liabilities

Liabilities at FVTPL  1,790 – –  1,790  2,170 – –  2,170 

Other financial liabilities – – – –  348  1,002 –  1,350 

1,790 – – 1,790  2,518  1,002 –  3,520 

During the reporting period there were no transfers between levels in fair value measurements. 

4.4. Interests in Structured Entities
The Group acts as fund manager to investment funds that are considered to be structured entities. These structured entities 
typically consist of unitised vehicles such as open-ended Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities 
(UCITS) funds, closed-ended investment trusts and alternative funds which entitle investors to a percentage of the vehicle’s 
net asset value. 

(a) Interests arising from managing client assets
The Group has an interest in funds that it manages as a result of the management of assets on behalf of its clients and this 
interest is reflected in the Group’s AUM. The main risk the Group faces from its interest in AUM managed on behalf of 
clients is the loss of fee income as a result of the withdrawal of funds by clients. 

A reconciliation of AUM reported by the Group within unconsolidated structured entities is shown below:

31 March 2018 
£’bn

31 March 2017 
£’bn

AUM within consolidated funds 0.01 0.01

AUM within unconsolidated funds 11.97 9.26

Total AUM 11.98 9.27

(b) Interests arising from investment in unconsolidated structured entities
Where the Group has an equity holding in a fund it manages, the maximum exposure to loss constitutes the future and 
uncollected management fees plus the fair value of the Group’s investment in that fund. The table below shows the carrying 
values of the Group’s interests in unconsolidated structured entities, recognised in the Group balance sheet, which are equal 
to the Group’s maximum exposure to loss from those interests.

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Seed capital investments 11,679 9,623

Management fees receivable at year-end 10,257 7,905
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and in hand, deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For 
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 
defined above.

4.5. Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently carried at the lower of original fair value and their 
recoverable amount. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it 
is written off against trade receivables and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Trade debtors 9,914 8,048
Other receivables 1,470 589
Prepayments 1,539 1,470

12,923 10,107

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and payable on demand.

4.6. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Cash at bank 87,715 58,199
Cash held by EBT and consolidated funds 235 340

87,950 58,539

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents at 
year end was £87,949,640 (2017: £58,539,142).

As at 31 March 2018 the Group had placed £1,500,000 (2017: £2,700,000) of its cash at bank with counterparties to fulfil 
the collateral requirements for derivatives contracts related to short positions (see Note 4.3b).

Cash generated from operations
A reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations is as follows:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 41,277 20,437

Interest receivable and similar income (68) (28)

Investment income (492) (464)

Depreciation of non-current property plant and equipment 508 501

Decrease/(Increase) in fair value of investment securities 112 (1,006)

Increase in fair value of assets at FVTPL (3,529) (5,878)

(Decrease) in other financial liabilities – (1,659)

Increase in other financial assets (488) –

Increase in receivables (2,816) (2,082)

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 14,515 (1,518)

(Decrease)/Increase in non-current liabilities (143) 37

Share-based payment 8,726 4,095

(Decrease)/Increase in liabilities at FVTPL (6) 508

Other non-cash items (46) (30)

Cash generated from operations 57,550 12,913
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

4.7. Non-current provisions and other liabilities

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Other non-current liabilities 1,051 1,194

Dilapidations provisions 975 975

 2,026 2,169

(a) Other non-current liabilities
The Group has benefited from a rent free period as part of the lease agreement for the premises at 16 Palace Street. 
The liability represents the accumulated amount which has been charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss  
as at 31 March 2018 on a straight line basis over the remaining term of the lease which expires in October 2024. 

(b) Dilapidations provision
As part of its operating lease agreement for the premises at 16 Palace Street, the Group have an obligation to pay for 
dilapidation costs at the end of the lease term. There have been no movements in the provision balance during the year.

4.8. Trade and Other Payables

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Own shares held
The Group operates, and funds by way of loan, an employee benefit trust for the purpose of satisfying certain share awards 
to employees. Own shares held are equity shares of the Company acquired and held by this trust as well as shares acquired by 
Group entities as part of the Group’s Deferred Remuneration Plan where variable staff remuneration has been deferred into 
shares of the Company. Such shares are recognised at cost and are presented in the Group balance sheet as a deduction from 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own shares.

(a) Issued share capital Group and Company

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid:

93,402,415 ordinary shares of 2.5p each 
(2017: 91,422,309 ordinary shares of 2.5p each) 2,335 2,286

The increase in share capital arises from 1,980,106 (2017: 206,298) shares issued on exercise of employee share options as well 
as the issue of nil (2017: nil) shares in connection with the crystallisation of manager preference shares as described in Note 3.6. 

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlement.

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Other creditors 21,024 13,793

Accruals 13,232 5,948

34,256 19,741

4.9. Issued share capital and reserves
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Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised in the accounting period in which the dividends 
are paid.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium
Share premium records the difference between the nominal value of shares issued and the full value of the 
consideration received.

(ii) Own shares held
At 31 March 2018 there were 2,555,653 shares of 2.5p each (2017: 1,878,987 shares of 2.5p each) held by the  
Employee Benefit Trust, for the purpose of satisfying share option obligations to employees and 483,969 shares  
of 2.5p each (2017: nil) held by Group entities as part of the Group Deferred Remuneration Plan. 

(iii) Capital reserves
The capital reserve represents a share capital repurchase reserve.

(iv) Other reserves
Other reserves relate to movements in:

 • current and deferred tax that arise on share-based payments;

 • movements in the fair value of other financial assets arising on Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts classified  
as cash flow hedges; and

 • exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations.

4.10. Dividends paid and proposed

Dividends on ordinary shares declared and paid during the year:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

First interim dividend for 2018: 6p per share (2017: 5.5p per share) 5,465 4,966

Second interim dividend for 2017: 19.5p (2016: 19.5p) 17,469 17,583

Total dividend paid and charged to equity 22,934 22,549

Dividends on ordinary shares proposed for approval by the Board of Directors (not recognised as a liability at 31 March 2018):

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Second interim dividend for 2018: 22p per share (2017: 19.5 per share) 20,091 17,469

The Board has declared a second interim dividend of 22p (2017: 19.5p) to be paid in July 2018. 

Together with the first interim dividend of 6p paid in January 2018 the total dividend for the year amounts to 28p 
(2017: 25.0p). 

4.11. Operating lease commitments
As at 31 March 2018, the Group had operating lease commitments in respect of its rented premises as follows:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Amounts payable within one year 1,408 1,461

Amounts payable between two and five years 5,183 5,184

Amounts payable in more than five years 2,244 3,540

The material lease relates to the rental of the Group’s premises at 16 Palace Street in London and expires in October 2024.
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4.12. Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Group, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not included in this Note.

B J D Ashford-Russell is a member of Polar Capital LLP (the ‘Partnership’) and a director of the Polar Capital Technology 
Trust plc (the Trust). The Partnership is the appointed investment manager of the Trust. The total fees received by the Group 
as investment manager of the Trust were £12,925,283 (2017: £9,640,154). The amounts receivable at the year end in this 
respect was £2,385,349 (2017: £1,831,680).

The investments in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss disclosed in Note 4.3 are in affiliated funds that are 
managed by a subsidiary of the Group.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management, which includes the Executive and Non-executive Directors, is summarised below. 

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Short-term employee benefits 2,102 1,187

Defined contribution pensions 60 60

Share-based payment benefits 2,144 108

4,306 1,355

At the end of the year the Group had balances owing to or in regard to key personnel of £1,667 (2017: £5,000). This amount 
relates to an amount owed to another company for the services of a non-executive director.

Options to acquire ordinary shares held by the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2018 are disclosed in the 
Remuneration Committee’s Report.
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Notes
31 March 2018 

£’000
31 March 2017 

£’000 

Non-current assets

Investments 5.2 21,589 14,920

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 5.3 26,989 27,042

Cash and cash equivalents 7,572 11,291

34,561 38,333

Current liabilities 1 –

Net assets 56,149 53,253

Capital and reserves

Issued share capital 2,335 2,286

Share premium 18,872 18,631

Retained earnings 34,942 32,336

Shareholders’ funds 56,149 53,253

The Notes on page 80 form part of these financial statements.

The Company’s profit for the year after tax was £18,003,000 (2017: £33,666,000).

The Company financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 22 June 2018 and signed  
on its behalf by:

Hugh Aldous    John Mansell
Chairman of the Audit Committee  Finance Director 

Registered number: 4235369

Company Balance Sheet
For the year ended 31 March 2018
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Note

Issued 
share 

capital 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000

As at 1 April 2017 2,280 18,509 17,124 37,913

Profit for the year – – 33,666 33,666

Dividends paid to shareholders – – (22,549) (22,549)

Share based payment – – 4,095 4,095

Issue of shares 6 122 – 128

As at 1 April 2017 2,286 18,631 32,336 53,253

Profit for the year – – 18,003 18,003

Dividends paid to shareholders – – (22,934) (22,934)

Share based payment – – 7,583 7,583

Issue of shares 49 241 (46) 244

As at 31 March 2018 2,335 18,872 34,942 56,149

The Notes on page 80 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes
31 March 2018 

£’000
31 March 2017 

£’000

Cash flows generated from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 5.4 18,057 33,700

Net cash inflow generated from operating activities 18,057 33,700

Investing activities

Return of contribution 914 –

Net cash inflow from investing activities 914 –

Financing activities

Equity dividends paid (22,934) (22,549)

Issue of share capital 244 128

Net cash outflow from financing activities (22,690) (22,421)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,719) 11,279

Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year 11,291 12

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7,572 11,291

The Notes on page 80 form part of these financial statements.

Company Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2018
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018

SECTION 5: NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
5.1. Basis of preparation
The Company financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with FRS 102. No profit or 
loss account is presented for the Company as permitted under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. 

The Company financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and are presented in Sterling 
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£’000) except when otherwise stated.

The accounting policies for the Company are the same as those for the Group except where specifically stated in the 
following notes.

5.2. Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are held at the lower of cost and recoverable amount. The carrying value is reviewed for 
impairment when there is an indication that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The investment is the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary Polar Capital Partners Limited.

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

At 1 April 2017 14,920 10,825

Share-based payments/contributions 7,583 4,095

Return of contribution (914) –

At 31 March 2018 21,589 14,920

Share based payments for awards granted to employees of subsidiary entities where the Company is the grantor of  
the awards or settles them with its own equity are accounted for as capital contributions by the Company to Polar Capital 
Partners Limited, with a corresponding credit to equity in the Company financial statements.

Amounts returned by subsidiary entities to the Company on settlement of awards are classified as a return of contribution.

5.3. Trade and other receivables
Other receivables for the Company are due from Polar Capital Partners Limited and are non interest bearing and repayable 
on demand.

5.4. Cash generated from operations
A reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations is as follows:

31 March 2018 
£’000

31 March 2017 
£’000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 18,004 33,666

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 53 34

Cash generated from operations 18,057 33,700

5.5. Related party transactions
The Company has an intercompany balance with Polar Capital Partners Limited . The balance receivable from Polar Capital 
Partners Limited of £26,989,258 (2017: £27,042,651) relates to cash movements by the subsidiary on behalf of the Company.
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Company No. 

4235369

Registered office

16 Palace Street  
London, SW1E 5JD  
Tel: 020 7227 2700

Company Secretary

Neil Taylor

Website

www.polarcapital.co.uk

Annual General Meeting

25 July 2018
Please see separate  
AGM Notice for details.

Shares

The shares are traded on the 
Alternative Investment Market 
of the London Stock Exchange 
and information on the share price 
and the Company can be accessed via 
the Company’s website or at 
www.londonstockexchange.com – 
code: POLR; or Bloomberg: POLR LN.

ISIN number 
GB00B1GCLT25 
 
SEDOL code
B1G

Dividends

Where possible, it is recommended 
that dividend payments are made 
directly into a bank account to 
provide improved security and 
faster access to funds. You may give 
instruction via the registrar’s website  
or in writing.

First interim dividend 
For the financial year ended 
31 March 2018

Amount
6.0p per ordinary share 

Ex-dividend date
28 December 2017

Record date
29 December 2017

Payment date
12 January 2018

Second interim dividend 
For the financial year ended 
31 March 2018

Amount
22p per ordinary share 

Ex-dividend date
5 July 2018

Record date
6 July 2018

Payment date
27 July 2018

Registrars

Equiniti Limited
Aspect House  
Spencer Road  
Lancing  
West Sussex, BN99 6DA

Shareholder helpline 
0800 876 6660 
(+44 121 415 7047)
 
Website
www.shareview.co.uk 

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP
25 Churchill Place 
Canary Wharf 
London, E14 5EY

Principal Bankers

HSBC Bank plc
333 Vauxhall Bridge Road 
London, SW1V 1EJ

Nominated Adviser  
and Corporate Broker

Canaccord Genuity 
88 Wood Street  
London, EC2V 7QR

Joint Corporate Broker

Peel Hunt LLP
Moor House 
120 London Wall 
London, EC2Y 5ET 

Solicitors

Herbert Smith Freehills LLP
Exchange House  
Primrose Street 
London, EC2M 2EG

Shareholder Information and Advisors
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